
For a meeting of the
COUNCIL
to be held on

THURSDAY, 26 JULY 2018
at

2.00 PM
in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES, ST. PETER'S HILL, 
GRANTHAM. NG31 6PZ

Aidan Rave, Chief Executive    

Members of the Council are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the 
items of business listed below.

For those Councillors who wish to attend, prayers will be held in the Council 
Chamber at 1:55pm before the commencement of the meeting. Please be 
seated by 1:50pm.

1  PUBLIC OPEN FORUM 

The public open forum will commence at 2.00 p.m. and the following formal 
business of the Council will commence at 2.30 p.m. or whenever the public 
open forum ends, if earlier.

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at 
the meeting.

4  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 24 MAY 2018 (Pages 4 - 20)

(Enclosure)

5  COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS) 
(Page 21)

(Enclosure)

6  MEMBERS OF THE CABINET AND THE LEADER'S SCHEME OF 
DELEGATION (Pages 22 - 29)

Report number LDS305 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

AGENDA



7  AMENDMENTS TO THE BUDGET FRAMEWORK 

(a)  St. Peter's Hill Re-development - Public Realm (Pages 30 - 34)

Report number CFM464 of the Cabinet Member for Finance.
(Enclosure)

(b)  Grounds maintenance (Pages 35 - 40)

Report number CFM463 of the Cabinet Member for Finance.
(Enclosure)

8  TEMPORARY APPOINTMENT OF PARISH COUNCILLORS (Pages 41 - 46)

Report number LDS295 of the Deputy Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 
Member for Communities, Health, Wellbeing and Skills. (Enclosure)

9  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 
(Pages 47 - 54)

Report number LDS304 of the Chairman of the Constitution Committee.
(Enclosure)

10  CHANGE OF NAME OF THE CULTURE AND TOURISM OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (Pages 55 - 57)

Report number LDS306 of the Deputy Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

11  APPOINTMENT OF SECTION 151 AND CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (Pages 
58 - 60)

Report number CMT002 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

12  MEETINGS OF THE CABINET (Pages 61 - 81)

Report number LDS303 of the Leader of the Council. (Enclosure)

13  MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS 

A 45-minute period in which members may ask questions of the Leader, 
Cabinet Members, the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees and opposition group leaders excluding the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Development Management Committee, Licensing 
and Alcohol, Entertainment and Late Night Refreshment Licensing 
Committees and Governance and Audit Committee.

14  NOTICES OF MOTION  GIVEN UNDER ARTICLE 4.9: 

(a)  Councillor Ashley Baxter 

This Council is committed to reducing its carbon footprint. It recognises 
the environmental and financial costs of its use of resources.

This Council resolves to reduce the volume of paper produced for 
Council meetings. This will be achieved by ceasing the circulation of 
hard copies of all cabinet paperwork as part of the meeting agenda 
packs.

The documents will continue to be available on-line and paper copies of 



the documents will be issued to individual Councillors on request.

(b)  Councillor Phil Dilks 

Last year, the local Police Station which has served the Deepings 
community for many years was closed to the public as a cost-saving 
measure.

A group of volunteers were determined to get it reopened if possible 
and eventually, after a meeting with the sector inspector, it was agreed 
that if sufficient volunteers came forward, the station could be 
reopened.

A recruitment drive on social media resulted in a team of seven 
volunteers and the station was reopened in April 2018.

It is now open to the public Monday to Friday 10am to 12 noon each 
day.
The volunteer team work in the office to support local police, take 
messages for them and engage with members of the public visiting the 
station. 

The volunteers have also spruced up the Police station, updated the 
Notice Board and cleaned down the entrance ramp to make the station 
more welcoming.

A Community Day is planned for Wednesday 1st August when the 
public will be invited to meet the volunteers and their local Policing 
Team.

I believe this excellent support for our local police is making a 
significant and sustained contribution to our community - which is why I 
have nominated Deeping Police Volunteer Team for this year’s 
prestigious Police Volunteer Awards run by the Home Office. 

This motion seeks the support of the full Council for the nomination.

Therefore, in recognising and congratulating Deeping Police Volunteer 
Team for their sustained effort in assisting local policing, this Council 
resolves to:

Support and endorse the nomination for Deeping Police Volunteer 
Team to be recognised in the 2018 Lord Ferrars Police Awards.

The deadline for notices of motion for the Council meeting on Thursday, 27 
September 2018 is 2pm on Friday 14 September 2018.



PRESENT
Councillor Bob Sampson Chairman then Councillor George Chivers

Councillor Bob Adams
Councillor Duncan Ashwell
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Stephen Benn
Councillor Mrs Pam Bosworth
Councillor Mrs Frances Cartwright
Councillor Michael Cook
Councillor Kelham Cooke
Councillor Rachael Cooke
Councillor Lynda Coutts
Councillor Nick Craft
Councillor Felicity Cunningham
Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Barry Dobson
Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Tracey Forman
Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Breda Griffin
Councillor Graham Jeal
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown
Councillor Michael King
Councillor Ms Jane Kingman

Councillor Matthew Lee
Councillor David Mapp
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Helen Powell
Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Bob Russell
Councillor Ian Selby
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith
Councillor Judy Stevens
Councillor Adam Stokes
Councillor Brian Sumner
Councillor Mrs Brenda Sumner
Councillor David Taylor
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew
Councillor Dean Ward
Councillor Hannah Westropp
Councillor Paul Wood
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Directors (Tracey Blackwell, 
Steve Ingram, Debbie Mogg, Paul 
Thomas)

Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

1. ELECTION OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Decision:

MINUTES
COUNCIL
THURSDAY, 24 MAY 2018
2.00 PM

Page - 4

Agenda Item 4



That Councillor George Chivers is elected as the Chairman of South 
Kesteven District Council until the next annual meeting of the Council

Members were invited to make nominations for the Chairman of the Council.

A proposition was made and seconded that Councillor Chivers be elected as 
Chairman of the District Council. Members who spoke in support of Councillor 
Chivers’ nomination spoke about his history of service, both in the RAF and as 
a Member of the Council. Reference was also made to the way in which he had 
conducted his duties as the Vice-Chairman of the Council.

A vote was taken and Councillor Chivers was elected as the Chairman of the 
Council.

The Chairman was invested with the chain of office. 

Members of the Council showed their support with a round of applause.

COUNCILLOR CHIVERS IN THE CHAIR

The new Chairman thanked Members for their support and said that he would 
do his best to emulate the outgoing Chairman.

2. VOTE OF THANKS TO THE RETIRING CHAIRMAN

A vote of thanks was made to the retiring Chairman, during which Members 
spoke about Councillor Sampson’s passionate championing of his charities and 
the time he had dedicated to the role in addition to his other roles on the 
Council. Several Members referred to the number of events Councillor 
Sampson had attended, commending his ambassadorship of South Kesteven 
and the energy with which he carried out the role. Councillor Sampson was 
described as a fair Chairman in the Council Chamber who had carried out the 
role with respect and dignity. A number of Members also commented on how 
well the Chairman and Vice-Chairman had worked as a team throughout the 
year.

Thanks were also extended to Mrs. Ann Sampson, the Chairman’s Lady for the 
way she had supported the retiring Chairman during his year in office.

The Chairman presented Councillor Sampson with a gift to show the Council’s 
appreciation for the work he had done during the year.

The outgoing Chairman remarked how much he had enjoyed the year, noting 
the way the Council had changed in that time and speaking about some of the 
events that he had attended. He concluded by thanking Members for 
supporting him during the year, making specific reference to the Vice-Chairman 
and the Civic Officer, to whom he presented a gift to mark his appreciation for 
her work. 

Page - 5



Members demonstrated their appreciation to the retiring Chairman with a round 
of applause. 

3. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE DISTRICT COUNCIL

Decision:

That Councillor Brian Sumner is elected as the Vice-Chairman of South 
Kesteven District Council until the next annual meeting of the Council. 

Nominations were invited for the role of Vice-Chairman.

Councillor Brian Sumner was proposed and seconded, with advocates of his 
nomination referring to his credibility, honesty and dedication. They also felt 
that he would be a good ambassador when attending events on the Council’s 
behalf. Reference was also made to Councillor Sumner’s service both as a 
Member of Stamford Town Council and as a Ward Councillor.

One Member stated that they could not support the nomination. Subsequently, 
a Member nominated Councillor Robert Reid for the role of Vice-Chairman; the 
nomination was seconded. Members who supported Councillor Reid’s 
nomination spoke of their experience of him as an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Chairman and how they had always found him willing to ‘go the 
extra mile’. Councillor Reid thanked Members for their words but stated that 
whilst he was grateful for the nomination, he was unable to accept.

More general comments were made about the relationship between the roles of 
Chairman and Vice Chairman, including some saying that nominations should 
not be made on the basis of a Member’s political group, but their personal 
qualities. A statement was also made that although Members may not support 
the choice of Chairman or Vice-Chairman, they could still appreciate the work 
of that individual and that it should not preclude them from working together.

A vote was taken and Councillor Brian Sumner was elected as the Vice-
Chairman of South Kesteven District Council until the next annual meeting of 
the Council. 

4. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Broughton, Evans, 
Manterfield, Morgan, Ian Stokes, Sarah Stokes, Turner, Webster and Wilkins.

5. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

No interests were disclosed.

6. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 1 MARCH 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2018 were proposed, seconded 
and agreed as a correct record.

Page - 6



7. COMMUNICATIONS (INCLUDING CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS)

The Council noted the Chairman’s engagements.

8. UPDATE FROM THE LEADER AND ANNOUNCEMENT ON THE SIZE AND 
MEMBERSHIP OF THE CABINET AND THEIR REMITS

It was proposed and seconded that article 4.11.4 of the Council’s Constitution 
be suspended, removing the time limit for which Members could speak, for this 
item only. On being put to the vote, this was carried.

The Leader of the Council gave an overview of the previous year. He reminded 
Members that when he became the Leader of the Council, he considered 
economic development to be of paramount importance in defining the success 
of the Council. He described the plans that had been announced in October 
2017 for £40m strategic investment and the formation of InvestSK, which, he 
stated, had transformed the way that Council was working with businesses to 
help them grow within the district or relocate to the district. He also outlined a 
key role in promoting arts, culture, heritage and the visitor economy.

The Leader stated that the Council was now firmly led by elected Members, 
who established priorities, set the budget and then worked with senior 
managers to deliver. He also stated that the new overview and scrutiny 
arrangements had given all Members an opportunity to become more involved 
in decision-making and holding decision-makers to account. The Leader also 
spoke about keeping scrutiny arrangements under review to ensure that they 
remained relevant and effective.

Reference was also made to a residents’ survey that was underway, which was 
the first to be conducted since 2010. A commitment was made that in the 
future, residents’ surveys would be conducted on a regular basis. 

The Leader also commented on a programme of transformation to make the 
Council sustainable, ensuring that it had the right people, capabilities and 
processes in place to create the right culture. This work was being led by the 
Chief Executive who, since his arrival, had worked with officers and Members 
to understand the strengths and weaknesses of the organisation. The Leader 
spoke about how the Council was embracing innovation through the Lightbox 
team. 

A number of other key projects from the 2017/18 municipal year were outlined 
by the Leader, including: 

 The Local Plan, which was due to enter the final stages of consultation
 Agreement to the principle of the Spitalgate Heath garden village
 Stamford Georgian Festival and the 50 year anniversary of Stamford’s 

conservation status
 The beginning of the development of Wherry’s Lane in Bourne

Page - 7



 Completion of feasibility work on new leisure facilities for the Deepings 
and work with architects in relation to leisure facilities in both the 
Deepings and Stamford

The Leader’s presentation turned to his scheme of delegation. He thanked 
Cabinet Members for their support throughout the year and confirmed that 
there would be no changes to the membership of his Cabinet. 

The Leader outlined a number of adjustments that were being made to Cabinet 
Members remits, which included: 

 Councillor Cooke would take on responsibility for strategic commercial 
ventures, partnerships and projects. He would also take on responsibility 
from Human Resources

 Councillor Smith’s remit would be extended to include communities in 
addition to her existing Portfolio of Health, Wellbeing and Skills

 Councillor Robins’ remit would be extended to include fairs, historic 
parks and gardens

 Councillor Neilson’s remit would become exclusively housing-focussed 
to provide capacity to drive forward the housing agenda

 Councillor Stokes would gain responsibility for rate relief for businesses, 
charities and rural communities

 Councillor Dr Moseley would take responsibility for business continuity 
and emergency planning

The remits of all Cabinet Members is set out below.

Councillor Remit
Councillor Lee The Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 

Member for Cultural Services
Councillor K Cooke The Deputy Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 

Member for Business Transformation and 
Commissioning

Councillor King Cabinet Member for Economy and Development
Councillor Jacky Smith Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, 

Wellbeing and Skills
Councillor Robins Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy
Councillor Goral Cabinet Member for Communications and 

Engagement
Councillor A. Stokes Cabinet Member for Finance
Councillor Neilson Cabinet Member for Housing
Councillor Dr. Moseley Cabinet Member for Environment

Members were also advised that a full copy of the Leader’s Scheme of 
Delegation would be circulated to them after the meeting.

A number of Members responded to the Leader’s speech, supporting a formal 
review of scrutiny arrangements; while Members found that arrangements were 
becoming more established there was recognition that further development was 

Page - 8



necessary to ensure its effectiveness. Reference was made to the findings of 
the Communities and Local Government Select Committee report on the 
effectiveness of local authority overview and scrutiny committees. The Leader 
clarified that he had not announced a review of the Council’s scrutiny 
arrangements, adding that it was not his role to intervene in scrutiny. He did 
suggest that if it was something scrutiny members wanted, they could come 
together through the Chair of Chairs and decide to conduct a review.

Support was expressed towards the work that was being undertaken by the 
administration, with particular reference made to heritage, the programmes that 
were being launched and the way in which local communities were being given 
a voice.

9. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES INCLUDING THE APPOINTMENT OF 
THEIR CHAIRMEN AND VICE-CHAIRMEN

Decision:

To approve the appointments to Committees and their Chairmen and 
Vice-Chairmen as appended to these minutes

Report number LDS285 of the Chief Executive asked Council to approve the 
membership of its committees (including Overview and Scrutiny Committees). 
Nominations from group leaders had been circulated prior to the meeting, 
together with the Leader’s recommendations regarding the Chairmen and Vice-
Chairmen of committees. The Leader proposed the nominations as they were 
listed in the circulated paper and announced that Councillor Reid would be 
scrutiny ‘Chair of Chairs’. The proposition was seconded. 

It was brought to Members’ attention that a separate vote would need to be 
taken on the membership of the Employment Committee. The Leader had 
indicated that he wanted to ensure that all groups were represented on the 
Employment Committee. This meant that any vote on the proposals would 
require a unanimous vote because the proposed allocation of seats did not 
comply with the political balance requirements. 

A vote was taken on the membership of all committees excluding the 
Employment Committee, which was carried.

A vote was taken on the membership of the Employment Committee; no 
Member voted against the proposition and this was carried.

A final vote was taken on the nominations for the Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 
of the Council’s Committees. This was also carried.

10. TIMETABLE OF COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Decision:

That the Council approves the dates of meetings for the Council, Cabinet 

Page - 9



and Committees for 2018/19 as appended to these minutes.

In proposing the calendar of Council and Committee meetings, the Leader drew 
Members’ attention to the updated programme that had been circulated at the 
meeting, which included an addendum. He explained that following the 
publication of the agenda, the following changes had been made to the 
programme:

 An additional meeting of the Employment Committee had been added 
on 4 June 2018

 The meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
scheduled for Tuesday 19 June 2018 had been moved to Wednesday 
20 June 2018

 The Development Management Committee site visits scheduled for 
Wednesday 20 June 2018 had been moved to Tuesday 19 June 2018

 The meeting of the Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee scheduled for Thursday 14 June 2018 had been moved to 
Tuesday 10 July 2018

The revised timetable was seconded.

Discussion began on the location of meetings. Reference was made to a 
decision that was made by Council in November 2017, when the Chairmen of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees had been encouraged to hold meetings 
outside Grantham.

Some Members spoke about the logistical arrangements for holding meetings 
in other locations and the cost that is incurred as a result. This statement was 
challenged on the basis that all meetings had a cost associated with them, with 
particular reference made to travel arrangements. Those Members who spoke 
in support of holding meetings in other locations also suggested that it might 
help Councillors understand the distinctions between communities across 
different parts of the district. 

Holding meetings in alternative locations was considered as a good way to 
increase engagement and access. A suggestion was made that access could 
also be broadened by live-streaming all Council and Committee meetings, with 
the caveat that consideration would need to be given to how this might work for 
those meetings that were held in different venues.

Reference was made to a recent Cabinet meeting that had been held in Bourne 
Corn Exchange. It was greeted favourably as an opportunity to talk to local 
people, view the market and the Corn Exchange facility. 

The onus on deciding the location of meetings was placed on the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chairmen in conjunction with Committee Members. A 
suggestion was made that if a Committee was considering an item that related 
to a specific location, it may be appropriate to hold that meeting there to help 
Members’ understanding.

Page - 10



Approval of the draft programme of meetings for 2018/19 as amended by the 
addendum circulated at the meeting was put to the vote and carried.

11. APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES TO OUTSIDE BODIES

Decision:

To appoint the Leader (or the Deputy Leader in the Leader’s absence) as 
the Council’s representative on East Midlands Councils and the Local 
Government Association.

Report number LDS287 asked the Council to make appointments to both East 
Midlands Councils and the Local Government Association.

It was proposed, seconded and, on being put to the vote, agreed that the 
Leader (and in his absence, the deputy Leader) should represent the Council 
on both East Midlands Councils and the Local Government Association.

12. DRAFT LOCAL PLAN

Decision:

1. Council approves the Proposed Submission Local Plan as set out 
at Appendix 2 to report SEG59 and amended by the addendum 
circulated at the meeting, for the purpose of publication for 
representations in accordance with Regulation 19 of the Local Plan 
Regulations and then submission to the Secretary of State

2. To agree that any minor corrections to the document can be 
approved by the Cabinet Member for Economy and Development, 
so long as these do not substantially affect the substance of any 
policies or land use allocations

In presenting report number SEG053 and proposing the recommendations 
therein, the Cabinet Member for Economy and Development drew Members’ 
attention to an addendum to the proposed submission Local Plan that had been 
circulated to Members. The addendum related to two changes, which related to 
self and custom build housing and sustainable transport in Grantham.

The Cabinet Member referred to the work that had been undertaken since 2014 
on the revised Local Plan and recorded his thanks to the Planning Policy Team 
and its Strategic Director for their work during that period. He explained that 
there was a national imperative on house-building and to this end, there had 
been a number of requirements issued by the Government, which the Council 
had to take into account.

The Cabinet Member summarised the changes between the existing Local Plan 
and the submission Local Plan, which included allocation of land for strategic 
employment, the incorporation of Spitalgate Heath garden village, new housing 

Page - 11



sites in Stamford and Deepings and the introduction of a new policy that would 
allow some homes to be built in the smallest villages. Reference was also 
made to the housing allocation for Bourne; an allocation of 200 houses had 
been removed and the neighbourhood plan committee had been asked to 
suggest where those allocations should be made.

Reference was also made to changes that had been made in respect of the 
housing needs assessment. A new methodology for calculating housing need 
increased in the number of houses that needed to be built each year from 625 
to 785. A number of councils that were part way through their Local Plan 
consultation process approached government in response to the changed 
methodology and agreement was reached that they could continue to use the 
existing target. This meant that the housing need in the submission Local Plan 
was 625 properties, plus an additional contingency of 12.9%

A number of changes had also been made since the Plan was subject to 
informal consultation in 2017. Members’ attention was specifically drawn to a 
proposed change that would see the affordable housing requirement shift from 
‘up to 35%’ to a requirement of 30%. New policies on biodiversity and 
geodiversity had been added. Members were also advised that the Council had 
been awarded grant funding to develop a document promoting good design.

Members were advised that if the Council approved the proposed submission 
Local Plan, it would go for a final round of representation; any responses would 
be submitted with the Plan to the Secretary of State, who would appoint an 
Inspector. The Plan would then be subject to examination in public, which it 
was hoped would happen in the autumn of 2018.

The proposition was seconded. 

A number of Members spoke on the item, many of whom expressed their 
thanks and congratulations to the Cabinet Member, other Members of the 
Council and the officers who had been involved in the preparation of the 
document. Some Members referred to specific sites, including the Manthorpe 
site near Grantham and Kettering Road in Stamford, which had both been the 
subject of planning applications that had been approved on appeal by the 
Planning Inspectorate.

A number of questions were posed, to which the Cabinet Member responded in 
his summing-up. An overview of those issues is outlined below:

 Clarification that there was not an allocation for the development of 400 
houses in Corby Glen; the allocation was 250 homes

 Evidence from other councils indicated that decreasing the required 
percentage of affordable housing had led to an increase in delivery with 
developers more willing to submit schemes

 Negotiation was underway about the level of affordable housing that 
might be delivered through Spitalgate Heath garden village taking 
account the wider infrastructure contributions being made through the 

Page - 12



development
 Emergency services had been consulted during the Local Plan 

preparation process; it was hoped that the increased housing numbers 
would provide a critical mass in Grantham that would support improved 
services 

 A suggestion was made that self-build sites should remain available for 
the life of the plan and not just for one year; there was an agreement 
that a year might not be long enough and that the issue could be looked 
at with the Planning Inspector

 Concerns were raised about traffic travelling through Bourne and its 
impact on the attractiveness of the town centre as a place to visit; it was 
suggested that the concerned Member should speak to InvestSK as 
place-making formed a key part of its work

 Development to the north of Stamford in Rutland with some concern 
expressed about its impact on Stamford’s infrastructure and services

A vote was taken on the proposition, which was carried.

16:06 to 16:27 – the meeting adjourned

13. CORPORATE STRATEGY

Decision:

The Council adopts the Corporate Strategy 2018-2025 as attached at 
Appendix 1 to report number ACEX003.

The Leader of the Council presented report number ACEX003, appended to 
which was the draft Corporate Strategy for 2018-2025. He informed Members 
that illustrative artwork had been circulated during the meeting. The Leader 
explained that the proposed Corporate Strategy was the response of 
professional officers to the priorities set by the Council’s political leadership. 
The document was developed in conjunction with officers of the Council 
through team meetings, workshops and an employee engagement survey. As a 
result of this engagement, the Leader felt that the proposed Strategy reflected 
the mood of the organisation. The proposition was seconded.

Several Members expressed their support for the document, praising 
specifically the emphasis of the document on the organisational culture and 
values, and steps being taken to reward performance. In summing up, the 
Leader recognised that in order to reward performance, clear and accountable 
performance targets would need to be developed. He also explained that the 
document sought to provide a platform that allowed the organisation to develop 
to meet modern challenges.

The proposition to approve the Corporate Strategy was put to the vote and 
carried. 

Page - 13



14. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT AND WORK 
PLAN

Decision:

1. Council approves the Annual Report of the Governance and Audit 
Committee for 2017/18

2. Council approves the indicative work plan and timetable for 2018/19 
which reflects the terms of reference of the Governance and Audit 
Committee

The Cabinet Member for Finance presented report number GAC010 on behalf 
of the Chairman of the Governance and Audit Committee. The report 
incorporated the Committee’s annual report for 2017/18 and the draft work 
programme for 2018/19. 

The recommendations in report GAC010 were proposed and seconded. On 
being put to the vote, the recommendations were approved.

15. MEETINGS OF THE CABINET

The Leader presented report number LDS288, which provided Members with 
copies of the reports submitted to Cabinet since 1 March 2018.

One Member commended the decision that had been made providing a class 
of local discretionary Council Tax discount of up to 100% for care leavers. It 
was suggested that during the coming year the Council might consider what 
else it may be able to do to support this group.

One Member referred to Grounds Maintenance Forum meetings, asking what 
they were, when they happened, who attended and whether minutes were 
available. The Cabinet Member for Environment explained that he believed that 
these were meetings between the Council officers and the contractor to discuss 
progress. He advised that he would make sure that any minutes that were 
available were passed to the Councillor who put the question. 

[Post meeting note: it was clarified that the forum referred to in the report was 
the Wyndham Park Forum, which was not connected to the Council].

16. MEMBERS' OPEN QUESTIONS

Report number LDS289 provided for Members’ information, a response to a 
question that had previously been asked by Councillor Selby regarding the 
disposal of abandoned bicycles.

Question 1

Councillor Dilks referred to an application that had recently been considered by 
the Development Management Committee that related to a Member of the 

Page - 14



Council. The report made to the Committee stated that the development works 
carried out did not conform with the permission that had previously been 
granted. He asked the Leader about standards of conduct and the potential for 
the public interpretation of the incident to be construed as a Member of the 
Council receiving favourable treatment. Councillor Dilks asked whether the 
Leader would invite the Member to attend the next meeting to make an apology 
to officers, Members and residents.

The Leader stated that he believed all Members had a duty to preserve the 
highest standards of conduct. He added that he would discuss the matter with 
the Chief Executive and the Solicitor to the Council and then with the Member 
concerned. 

A Member who sat on the Development Management Committee spoke about 
the Committee’s decision and how it had done its best to put matters right.

Question 2

Councillor Ray Wootten referred to the Cabinet meeting held on 10 May 2018, 
when he had asked the Leader whether he would be prepared to sign a joint 
letter to United Lincolnshire Hospitals Trust and South West Lincolnshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group regarding services at Grantham hospital, 
including the accident and emergency department, with the Leader of 
Lincolnshire County Council. The Leader had agreed to co-sign the letter. 
Councillor Wootten asked whether this letter had been sent.

The Leader stated that the letter was in the final stages of drafting, and liaison 
was underway with the Leader of Lincolnshire County Council to try and 
arrange an opportunity for the letter to be signed that would help generate 
further media attention. It was suggested that it may be helpful if Councillor 
Wootten had input into the final drafting of the letter.  

Question 3

Councillor Wood expressed his thanks to the Cabinet Member for Environment 
for his support tackling lorry parking in Long Bennington, noting particularly his 
liaison with Lincolnshire County Council. 

Question 4

Councillor Forman referred to the difficulties experienced by young people with 
learning difficulties and disabilities in entering the workplace. She stated that a 
recognised way of facilitating this was providing supported internships. She 
asked whether the Council currently had any supported internships or whether 
there were plans to offer any such placements.

The Deputy Leader stated that he was not aware that the Council had any 
supported internships at the present time but said it was something that he was 
happy to discuss further. He added that more work was also planned to 
strengthen apprenticeships.

Page - 15



Question 5

Councillor Selby asked whether Members who decided not to re-stand for 
election or who were not re-elected could buy their iPads.

The Deputy Leader stated that following the last election, some Members had 
chosen to buy their laptops and indicated that he would be happy to arrange for 
Members to purchase their iPads and stated that he would develop a charging 
mechanism.

17. NOTICES OF MOTION GIVEN UNDER ARTICLE 4.9:

(1) Councillor Ashley Baxter

Decision:

This Council agrees that should a Unitary Authority be formed in 
Lincolnshire that 

1) Grantham needs a Town Council distinct and separate to the 
Unitary Authority

2) To consult residents of Grantham and the wider District, as well 
as other relevant stakeholders, regarding the formation of a 
Town Council for Grantham

3) To undertake a Community Governance Review for the purpose 
of establishing a Grantham Town Council

Councillor Baxter proposed his motion:

This Council agrees:

1) Grantham needs a Town Council distinct and separate to the 
District Council

This Council resolves:

2) To consult residents of Grantham and the wider District, as 
well as other relevant stakeholders, regarding the formation 
of a Town Council for Grantham

3) To undertake a Community Governance Review for the 
purpose of establishing a Grantham Town Council.

In presenting his motion, Councillor Baxter expressed a belief that the lack 
of a town council for Grantham left a democratic gap for the town’s 
residents. He explained that he had submitted a motion to this end in 

Page - 16



November 2017, but withdrew it when a similar motion was submitted by 
another Councillor. This was subsequently withdrawn, which meant that the 
issue was not discussed. He referred to planning applications that were 
considered by the Development Management Committee, which included 
comments from the local town or parish council providing a local 
perspective; this was absent from applications relating to Grantham. He 
suggested that residents of Grantham should be given the opportunity to 
express what they thought of the role of the Charter Trustees or whether 
they would prefer to see a different body.

He also made comments about the vibrancy of the town and parish 
councils in the Deepings, citing examples where those bodies had taken 
action to support local people, specifically mentioning Deepings Youth 
Centre and the Deepings Library.

The motion was seconded.

Some Members referred to previous occasions when Grantham residents 
had been asked about the creation of a town council. Those Members 
reported that the support they had experienced had been limited, with 
public meetings attracting only a small number of attendees, which they 
considered indicated a lack of appetite. A suggestion was made that 
instead of an additional tier of local Government, the residents of Grantham 
could be served equally well by a Grantham Committee set up under the 
umbrella of the District Council.

Those Members who spoke in support of the motion suggested that poor 
attendance at meetings could have been because of the way in which they 
were publicised. Reference was also made to a poll on the issue that had 
previously been conducted; one Member spoke of their experience, stating 
that they had seen no publicity to indicate that the poll was taking place. 
The general consensus of those Members that supported the proposition 
was that, just because interest had been limited in the past, the population 
was changing, together with its views, meaning it would be appropriate to 
ask again. 

An amendment to the motion was proposed and seconded:

This Council agrees that should a Unitary Authority be formed in 
Lincolnshire that 

1) Grantham needs a Town Council distinct and separate to 
the Unitary Authority

2) To consult residents of Grantham and the wider District, 
as well as other relevant stakeholders, regarding the 
formation of a Town Council for Grantham

3) To undertake a Community Governance Review for the 
purpose of establishing a Grantham Town Council

Page - 17



The proposer of the amendment referred to historic polls that had tested 
the appetite for a town council in Grantham. He suggested that he would 
be supportive of such a proposition if District Council was abolished and 
replaced with a unitary authority. Alternatively he said that he would be 
supportive if residents of Grantham came forward with a petition requesting 
a Community Governance Review. The proposition was seconded.

Members sought clarification about whether the amendment was 
acceptable or whether it negated the original proposition. Clarification was 
given that the amendment qualified the original motion by adding to it.

A number of Members spoke against the amendment. Reference was 
made to the previous motion that had been submitted and withdrawn to 
allow Members from across the Chamber to develop wording that would be 
agreeable to all parties. Some Members expressed dissent about the spirit 
in which the amendment had been raised.

Members speaking against the amendment spoke further about the 
activities of their local town and parish councils and the additional services 
that they provided, which were provided in Grantham by SKDC. A question 
was asked whether the lack of a town council in Grantham meant that 
residents from other parts of the district were subsidising services for 
Grantham residents that might otherwise be provided by a town or parish 
council.

One Member suggested it would be advantageous if Grantham had a town 
council as it would provide a central point through which community 
campaigns could be led, providing a more organised response than 
multiple single-issue campaigns.

Members who spoke against the amendment, highlighted that the initial 
intention of the original proposition was to find out whether there was an 
appetite for the formation of a town council, rather than simply imposing 
one.

17:18 – In accordance with article 4.6.4 of the Council’s Constitution, 
Members were advised that the meeting had been in progress for three 
hours. It was proposed, seconded and on being put to the vote, agreed, 
that the meeting should be extended for 15 minutes to allow the conclusion 
of business.

A number of further Members spoke, stating that they would not be able to 
support the amendment, reiterating comments that had been made earlier 
in the debate.

Councillor Baxter, as the proposer of the original motion, was given the 
opportunity to sum up on the amendment. In so doing he encouraged 
Members to vote against the amendment. He highlighted the subjectivity of 
numbers and suggested that the figures referred to during the meeting and 

Page - 18



cited as a lack of interest may not provide a fair reflection of public opinion. 

The amendment was put to the vote and carried, making it the new 
substantive motion. A vote was taken on the substantive motion, which was 
carried.

(2) Councillor Linda Wootten

Decision:

In light of and on the back of the introduction of the green paper on 
Integrated Communities announced on March 14th. 2018, I believe a 
cohesive community is one where... There is a common vision and a 
sense of belonging for all communities where the diversity of 
people's different backgrounds cultures and circumstances are 
appreciated and positivity valued.

People sometimes find it difficult to accept the coming together of 
different nations but it works both ways and, where diversity is 
accepted, it can be celebrated and is a cultural education in itself, 
which lends itself to a happier and more understanding 
neighbourhood. 

This council through the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny committee has been working towards a more cohesive and 
stronger community, perhaps more as individuals than as a group, by 
engaging with other nationalities and organisations to build up a 
respect and understanding between each other.

We in particular as Councillors and the Council represent the whole 
community and, I propose that this Council, recognises our role and 
responsibilities within our District by empowering members and 
Officers of this council to become Community Cohesion Champions.

Councillor Linda Wootten proposed her motion:

In light of and on the back of the introduction of the green paper on 
Integrated Communities announced on March 14th. 2018, I believe a 
cohesive community is one where... There is a common vision and a 
sense of belonging for all communities where the diversity of people's 
different backgrounds cultures and circumstances are appreciated 
and positivity valued.

People sometimes find it difficult to accept the coming together of 
different nations but it works both ways and, where diversity is 
accepted, it can be celebrated and is a cultural education in itself, 
which lends itself to a happier and more understanding 
neighbourhood. 

This council through the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 

Page - 19



Scrutiny committee has been working towards a more cohesive and 
stronger community, perhaps more as individuals than as a group, by 
engaging with other nationalities and organisations to build up a 
respect and understanding between each other.

We in particular as Councillors and the Council represent the whole 
community and, I propose that this Council, recognises our role and 
responsibilities within our District by empowering members and 
Officers of this council to become Community Cohesion Champions.

She made reference to the work that had been undertaken by Dame 
Louise Casey on community cohesion. Reference was also made to 
activity within South Kesteven to support the integration of different 
communities. She told Members about her experiences of attending 
citizenship ceremonies that had taken place in Grantham and the work that 
was being undertaken by the Jubilee Church.

The motion was seconded. During his speech, the seconder referred to two 
National Front demonstrations that had taken place in Grantham in recent 
years. He also informed Members that Grantham was home to people of 
over 40 different nationalities. He too referred to citizenship ceremonies 
that he had attended and events that had been hosted by different 
communities.

One Member who spoke on the motion said that they felt it was incumbent 
on all Councillors to represent everyone and act as a community cohesion 
champion and expressed some concern that the final sentence of the 
motion indicated that this was not happening.

17:37 – As the 15 minutes by which Council had agreed to extend the 
meeting had expired, it was further proposed that the meeting be extended 
by a further five minutes to allow the conclusion of business. This was lost 
and the Chairman determined that the motion should be put to the vote, 
then the meeting closed. 

On being put to the vote, the proposition was carried. 

18. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 17:37.

Page - 20



List of Chairman’s Engagements 
25 May 2018 to 27 July 2018

Date Ref Organisation and Event Location Chauf
Sunday 
03.06.18

GC002 Bourne Town Council Civic Service St Peter & St Paul Bourne 
Abbey Church, Bourne

Tuesday 
05.06.18

GC001 Garden Party London Yes

Saturday 
09.06.18

GC003 Army Cadet Force National Athletics 
Championships 

Meres Sports Stadium
Grantham

Sunday 
10.06.18

GC004 Market Deeping Town Council
Civic Service

St Guthlac’s Church
Market Deeping

Saturday 
16.06.18

GC007 Grantham Carnival – presentation of 
the trophy for the best float

Grantham

Sunday 
17.06.18

GC008 Grantham Carnival – presentation to 
the classic car winner

Grantham

Tuesday 
19.06.18

GC013 Inspire Mini Olympics The Meres, Grantham

Tuesday 
19.06.18

GC005 “Rotary Swimarathon” Presentation of 
Grants

St Wulfram’s Church, 
Grantham

Saturday 
23.06.18

GC010 Stamford Festival of Floats Brownes Hospital (Meet), 
Stamford

Sunday 
24.06.18

GC014 Mayor of Stamford  - Mayor’s Sunday Stamford

Monday 
25.06.18

GC006 SKDC Armed Forces Flag Raising 
Ceremony

Council Offices, St Peter’s 
Hill

Tuesday 
26.06.18

GC011 Armed Forces Day Parade Spalding
Tulip Events

St Mary & St Nicholas 
Church, Spalding

Yes

Wednesday 
27.06.18

GC017 Cheque Presentation to St Barnabas 
(Cllr Bob Sampson, Cllr Mike Cooke)

Mayors Parlour

Friday 
29.06.18

GC012 NKDC Veteran’s Evening NKDC Civic Suite, Sleaford Yes

Sunday 
01.07.18

GC018 NKDC, Drumhead Service and 
Freedom of Sleaford (RAF Digby)

Sleaford Recreation Ground

Tuesday 
03.07.18

GC019 DRET (David Ross Educational Trust 
Summer Cup)

Grantham Meres Leisure 
Centre

Thursday 
05.07.18

BS001 The Army Engagement Team 
Reception and Briefing

The Epic Centre, Lincoln 

Saturday
07.07.18

GC020 Shakespeare in the Park VIP Gala 
night

Wyndham Park, Grantham

Sunday 
08.07.18

GC016 Royal British Legion event opening to 
mark the centenary of the Royal Air 
Force

RAF Station Langtoft, 
Market Deeping

Tuesday 
10.07.18

GC021 Jubilee Life Church Live Sound 2 Jubilee Church Life Centre

Sunday 
15.07.18

GC022 NKDC Civic Service St Boltoph’s Church, 
Quarrington 

Tuesday 
17.07.18

GC025 Walton Academy Visual Art Exhibition Walton School, Harlaxton 
Road, Grantham NG31 7JR

Saturday 
21.07.18

GC023 Bassetlaw TC Charity Concert The Ballroom, Retford Town 
Hall

Sunday 
29.07.18

GC024 Chairman of LCC service of dedication 
and reception

Lincoln Cathedral Yes

Page - 21

Agenda Item 5



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

26 July 2018

The Leader’s Scheme of Delegation (LDS305)

Decision
Proposal:

No decision is required

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 11 July 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15 E-mail: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 13 July 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 12 July 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
Date: 16 July 2018

SUMMARY

This report updates Members of the Council on the changes made to the Leader’s 
Scheme of Delegation. 

RECOMMENDATION

The Council is not asked to make any decision in relation to this report but asked to 
note the changes to the Leader’s Scheme of Delegation.

Page - 22

Agenda Item 6



1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 On 10 July 2018 Councillor King decided to step down from the Cabinet due to 
personal commitments. 

1.2 In accordance with Article 8 of the Council’s Constitution notice was given to 
the Chief Executive as the Proper Officer of changes to the Leader’s Scheme of 
Delegation. An updated copy of the Leader’s Scheme of Delegation is attached 
as Appendix A to this report. 

1.3 The former posts of Cabinet Member for Economy and Growth and Cabinet 
Member for Communications and Engagement have merged. The combined 
remits are now the responsibility of a Cabinet Member for Growth and 
Communications.

1.4 The Leader has appointed Councillor Helen Goral as the Cabinet Member for 
Growth and Communications. The delegations formerly held by Councillor King 
as the former Cabinet Member for Economy and Growth have been withdrawn 
as is usual when a Cabinet Member steps down from a post. 

1.5 No changes have been made to other Cabinet Member posts and delegations.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not applicable.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The reduction in the number of Cabinet Members will reduce the number of 
Special Responsibility Allowances payable..

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified. 

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable to this report.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 The proposed changes to the Leader’s scheme of delegation as detailed in this 
report has a minor positive financial implication as the Cabinet is reduced by 
one positon thereby removing one special responsibility allowance.

Page - 23



8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 Article 8.5.1 provides details of the mechanisms for the discharge of Executive 
functions as directed by the Leader or specified within the Constitution.

8.2 Article 8.5.2 sets out the information that the Leader must provide at each 
Annual Council meeting about the membership of their Cabinet and the extent 
of the delegations afforded to Cabinet Members.

8.3 Article 8.5.4 of the Council’s Constitution sets out the procedure should the 
Leader which to make changes to his Scheme of Delegation in-year. To do so, 
the Leader must give written notice to the Proper Officer and to the person, 
body or Committee concerned, setting out the extent of the amendment to the 
scheme of delegation and whether it entails the withdrawal of a delegation from 
any party. The same article requires any changes to be reported to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A: The Leader’s Scheme of Delegation revised and issued on 10 July 
2018

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 SKDC Constitution, Article 8: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3734/Public%20reports%2
0pack%2011th-Jul-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10

Page - 24

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3734/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Jul-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3734/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Jul-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10


Appendix A

CABINET STRUCTURE AND DELEGATIONS

This is the Leader of the Council’s Scheme of Delegation revised and issued on 10 
July 2018 in accordance with Article 8 of the Council’s Constitution.  

The Leader of the Council – Councillor Matthew Lee

The Chairman of the Cabinet and responsible for organisational vision and objectives 
and key strategic direction. Representing the Council on key, high level and strategic 
joint working and partnership arrangements between public sector partners e.g. LEP. 
Cabinet Member for Cultural Services including Arts, Heritage, Leisure & Sports.

Remit:
 Arts
 Festivals
 Heritage
 Leisure Centres, Sports and Sports Development

The Deputy Leader of the Council – Councillor Kelham Cooke

The Vice Chairman of the Cabinet. Cabinet Member for Business Transformation and 
Commissioning responsible for key public-private strategic commercial ventures, 
partnerships and projects and has an overarching cross cutting role that operates 
across all service areas with direct accountability for services underpinning 
organisational effectiveness namely information technology, customer services, driving 
commerciality, procurement, HR, legal and assets.

Remit:
 Business Transformation
 Non-Housing Council Owned Property, Assets & Maintenance
 Customer Services
 Elections
 FOI Requests
 Governance & Data Protection
 Gravitas Housing Limited 
 IT
 HR and Organisational Development 
 Legal & Democratic Services
 Procurement
 Public-private strategic commercial ventures, partnerships and projects

Page - 25



Cabinet Member for Growth and Communications – Councillor Helen 
Goral

Strategic housing and planning policy including Local plan development, identifying 
key housing and employment sites with appropriate land allocations to meet need. 
Maximise and develop opportunities for indigenous and inward investment across the 
District, developing Grantham as a leading sub regional centre. Development of key 
housing, commercial and infrastructure delivery schemes. Support the delivery of 
strategic business investments in Grantham, Stamford, Bourne and the Deepings. 
Facilitate close working with the private sector on potential joint venture/partnership 
schemes. Maximise external funding opportunities creating a network of business 
locations, office floor space, and start up and move on space. Liaison with Local 
Enterprise partnerships regarding funding schemes and programmes.  

Working across all service areas, promoting and developing best practice approach to 
Corporate communications and resident/stakeholder engagement. Development of 
effective, proactive communication strategy, enhancing reputation management, 
strengthening the council’s identity and brand with residents, business and partners. 

Overview of key initiatives and programmes to “put the Council on the map” raise 
awareness of investment opportunities and the district’s potential as a desirable place 
in which to live work or visit. Building a comprehensive engagement programme with 
communities to gather feedback, customer intelligence and insight to inform future 
policies and service development. 

Remit:
 Agricultural and Rural Economy
 Brand Management and place marketing
 Building Control
 Business & Enterprise
 Conservation
 Communications
 Consultations
 Engagement
 Planning and delivery of strategic retail, housing and industrial 

developments
 Design guidance and standards
 Economic Strategy
 Grants & Assistance
 Inward Investment
 Local Plan and Supplementary Planning documents
 Neighbourhood Plans
 Planning Services & Policies   

Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, Well-being and Skills – 
Councillor Jacky Smith 

Overview of the prevailing future Strategic Health agenda and its impact on local 
communities in relation to health and inequalities and future service provision. The 
development of a business and community based skills agenda, engagement and 

Page - 26



involvement with local community groups and special projects. Overview and 
development of community cohesion. Supporting communities to thrive and develop 
and foster community safety/protection initiatives in liaison with key partners e.g. 
Health, Police and other statutory agencies to adapt and encompass fit for purpose, 
cost effective arrangements to respond to increasing demand as a result of forecast 
population growth and factors. Engagement and involvement with local community 
groups and positive and proactive Parish Council liaison.  

Remit:
 Anti-social behaviour
 Community Cohesion
 Community Funding & Volunteering 
 Community Right to Bid 
 Community Safety and Local Policing 
 Equalities and Diversity
 Health
 Parish Council Liaison
 Safeguarding
 Skills
 St Peter’s Hill Cinema Development
 Well-being

Cabinet Member for Retail and Visitor Economy – Councillor Nick 
Robins

Adopting a key focus on revitalising town centres, promoting the distinctiveness of 4 
market towns, developing leisure destinations that serve the local community and 
attract shoppers and visitors from a wider area, expanding the visitor economy. 
Develop new tourism products and support close working with existing and emerging 
tourism attractions. Supporting business led town centre initiatives and creation of 
vibrant, enhanced market offer across the four towns. Proactive and positive Town 
Council liaison and engagement. 

Remit:
 Car parks
 Farmers & Specialist Markets
 Markets and Fairs
 Historic Parks and Gardens
 Shop front designs and funding
 Street furniture
 Street parking permits
 Tourism
 Town centre development & partnerships
 Town Council Liaison

Page - 27



Cabinet Member for Housing - Councillor Nick Neilson

Development of new market and affordable housing to meet the needs of local 
communities both in towns and across the rural areas of the district. Recognise and 
support the importance of housing provision and delivery via effective HRA business 
planning and housing strategy.  

Remit:
 Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme
 Benefit Claims
 DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme
 Disabled Facilities Grant
 Empty Homes Assistance
 Empty Homes Discount
 Essential Home Repair Assistance
 Homelessness
 Housing Management, Improvement and Repairs
 Landlords Forum

Cabinet Member for Finance – Councillor Adam Stokes

Effective use of financial resources, supporting and facilitating the delivery of Council 
objectives. Ensuring the continued development and review of financial governance 
frameworks, investment policies, forward planning and forecasting. Consideration of 
pooling arrangements, business rate retention models and efficiency plan. Effective 
budget preparation and risk management to enable optimum use of available financial 
resources.

Remit:
 Audit and accountability
 Business Rate Relief
 Budget preparation and Council tax
 Charitable Rate Relief
 Council tax collection
 Finance and accountancy
 Fraud investigation
 Grants and subscriptions
 Non-Domestic rates
 Risk management
 Rural Rate Relief

Cabinet Member for Environment – Councillor Dr Peter Moseley

Developing and maintaining a healthy, clean environment within South Kesteven. 
Development of effective environmental strategies and policies to benefit local 
communities. Overview of Waste collection and recycling initiatives including 
representation on the countywide Strategic Waste Partnership. Implement and review 
key environmental protection strategies and programmes. Ensure communities are 
safe clean and healthy via effective street cleansing operations and licensing policies. 

Page - 28



Business continuity and emergency planning. Explore, evaluate and identify 
commercially viable opportunities across the remit where appropriate. 

Remit:
 Air Quality
 Alcohol, entertainment and leisure licensing
 Allotments
 Animal Welfare licensing
 Business Continuity and Emergency Planning 
 Business Trade & Licensing
 CCTV
 Commercial, Industrial and Clinical Waste Collection and Management
 Dog breeding & control orders
 Domestic Waste & Recycling Management
 Energy Efficiency
 Estate and Grounds Maintenance
 Flooding
 Food Hygiene and Safety
 Gambling & Lotteries licensing
 Health & Safety
 Noise
 Public Conveniences
 Renewable Energy
 Scrap Metal Dealers
 Street Lighting
 Street Services and Green Open Space Management
 Tattoo, licensing and hygiene rating system
 Taxi & private vehicle, driver and operator licensing
 Wild animal licences

Page - 29



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

26th July 2018 

Proposed amendment to Budget Framework – Public 
Realm  2018/19 (CFM464)

Decision
Proposal:

Budget Framework Proposal

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Adam Stokes 
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406210
Date: 12July 2018

Alison Hall-Wright
Financial  Accountant Team Leader
Alison.Hall-Wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406208
Date: 12 July 2018

Debbie Muddimer – Strategic Director of Resources
Debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406301
Date: 13 July 2018

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet member for Finance
Date: 13 July 2018 

SUMMARY
This report sets out the proposed changes to the budget framework for 2018/19 in order 
to enable the necessary budget allocations to be made during the financial year.

Page - 30

Agenda Item 7a

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Hall-Wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION
Council is asked to approve the amendment to the 2018/19 capital budget framework in 
respect of the funding for the delivery of the St Peter’s Hill Grantham public realm 
project of £1.66M.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The 2018/19 budget framework was approved by Council at its meeting on 1st 
March 2018.

1.2 At its meeting on 12th July Cabinet approved the progression of the public realm 
works at St Peter’s Hill Grantham in order to enhance public linkages to the 
new cinema complex.  In order to deliver this Cabinet is recommending that 
Council allocate £1.66M to fund the public realm works.  Full details of the 
proposal can be found at:

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
(http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=
3624&Ver=4)

1.3 A summary of the funding proposal is provided below: 

Item £
Preliminaries 246,350
Demolition 95,100
Remodelling of courtyard and public realm works 846,315
New entrance to civic suite 50,000
New office entrance 71,775
Associated costs (including contractor’s risk and 
inflation) 

187,671

Fees 163,929
1,661,140

1.4 Proposed Capital Amendment

1.5 In order to facilitate the progression of the public realm works in readiness for the 
cinema complex opening to the public an allocation of £1.66M is required from 
reserves. This will be funded from the local priorities reserve.  A summary of the 
updated reserves position is provided at Appendix A.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 N/A

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 These are stated within the report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Page - 31

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3624&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3624&Ver=4


Category Risk Action / Controls
None specified

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 N/A

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 N/A

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 These are included in the report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The in-year change to the budget for 2018/19 is proposed to be approved by 
Council in accordance with Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A – Updated General Fund Capital Programme and Reserves 
Statement 2018/19

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 Budget Framework Proposals 2018-19:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3463&V
er=4

Page - 32

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3463&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=261&MId=3463&Ver=4


CAPITAL PROGRAMME

GENERAL FUND

Appendix A

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Description Indicative Updated Additional Updated Indicative Indicative

Base Base Slippage Post yr End Base Base
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Growth
Town Centre Development

1        St Peter's Hill Redevelopment - 5,500 (100) 5,400 - -
2 Shop front scheme 130 130 130 130 -
3 Serviced Land - - 0 - -
4 Property Investment Strategy - 3,900 3,900 - -
5 Purchase of Emergency Planning & Response Trailer - 55 55 - -
6 Local Authority Controlled Company - 2,550 250 2,800 - -
7 Public Realm Cinema Complex 1,660 1,660

130 13,795 150 13,945 130 -

Housing
8 Essential Home Grant Assistance 150 75 75 75 75
9 Empty Homes Financial Assistance - 50 50 - -

10 Disabled Facilities Grant - 797 797 50 50
150 922 - 922 125 125

Culture
11 Provision for Existing Assets
12 Grantham Council Offices - LV Panel - - - - -
13 GAC Theatre Lighting - 35 35 15 -
14 DLC Boilers - 70 70 - -
15 Tourism Signage - 50 50 50 50
16 Meres PA System - 35 35 - -
17 Market Stall Covers - 50 50 - -
18 Car Park Barriers - 50 50 - -
19 Car Park Ticket Machines 150 150
20 Queen Elizabeth Park Grantham Car Park - - - 30 -
21 Wyndham Park Lighting - 25 25 - -
22 Wyndham Park Improvement Works 119 357 36 393 - -

119 822 36 858 95 50

Environment
Waste Management

23        Street Scene Vehicle Procurement 525 311 200 511 313 13
24        Vehicle Replacement Programme 326 102 61 163 486 750
25        Pool Car Vehicles 128 247 247 - -
26        Big Clean Vehicles - - 39 39 - -
27        Wheelie Bin Replacements 112 175 175 112 112
28 Grounds Maintenance equipment 450 450

1,091 1,285 300 1,585 911 875

Corporate
29 Customer Access Strategy (telephony upgrade) - - - - -
30 Customer Relationship & Document Access Strategy - - - - -
31 Financial System Upgrade - 50 50 - -
32  Sandbox Firewall - 40 40 - -
33  Equillogic Server Based Storage - 20 20
34  Uninterruptible Power Supply Replacement - 15 15
35  ICT WiFi Infrastructure - - 42 42 - -

- 125 42 167 - -

36 TOTAL GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 1,490 16,949 528 17,477 1,261 1,050

Page - 33



Reserves Statement - General Fund Appendix A

Page 2

GENERAL FUND RESERVES STATEMENT Budget Budget Budget 
Book Book Book

Balance Transfer Transfer Actual Balance Fcast Fcast Balance Fcast Fcast Balance Fcast Fcast Balance
as at to Reserve from Reserve as at Movement as at Movement as at Movement as at

31 March 2017 in year in year 31 March 2018 in year 31 March 2019 in year 31 March 2020 in year 31 March 2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund

Discretionary Reserves
1 Stamford Arts Centre 52 0 (19) 33 0 33 0 33 0 33
2 Training and Development 20 0 (5) 15 0 15 0 15 0 15
3 Events and Festivals 228 143 (138) 233 (135) 98 (100) (2) 0 (2)
4 Apprenticeships 100 0 (64) 36 (65) (29) (13) (42) 0 (42)
5 Broadband infrastructure 550 0 (550) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6 Waste and Recycling initatives 156 0 0 156 0 156 0 156 0 156
7 Support for corporate reviews 53 0 (53) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8 Business Support 100 0 (100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9 ICT investment 268 0 (95) 173 (118) 55 0 55 0 55

10 Transformation Programme 692 0 (692) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11 Economic Development & Growth 91 140 (62) 169 (120) 49 0 49 0 49
12 Tourism 40 0 (40) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13 Hardship & Welfare 50 0 (50) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
14 Service Improvement Reserve 1,347 0 (282) 1,065 (47) 1,018 (49) 969 0 969
15 Community Fund 150 96 (96) 150 (150) 0 0 0 0 0
16 Local Priorities Reserve 13,737 3,176 (5,992) 10,921 (5,553) 5,368 1,854 7,222 1,211 8,433
17 Invest to Save 358 495 (51) 802 (332) 470 0 470 0 470
18 Housing Delivery 0 347 0 347 0 347 0 347 0 347
19 Ward Members 0 56 0 56 0 56 0 56 0 56
20 Food Waste 0 170 0 170 0 170 0 170 0 170

20A Public Realm 150 150 0 150 0 150
17,992 4,623 (8,289) 14,326 (6,370) 7,806 1,692 9,498 1,211 10,709

Governance Reserves
21 Insurance Reserve 350 (13) 337 0 337 0 337 0 337
22 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 220 296 (50) 466 (70) 396 (71) 325 (8) 317
23                                - Current EmployeesPensions Reserve - Current Employees 2,425 0 (657) 1,768 (727) 1,041 (847) 194 (750) (556)
24 BR & CTS Volatility 1,729 0 0 1,729 (183) 1,546 (339) 1,207 0 1,207
25 Building Control (66) 59 0 (7) 22 15 31 46 41 87
26 Football 3G Pitch 25 0 25 0 25 0 25 25
27 SEA Reserve 202 68 (10) 260 (68) 192 19 211 49 260

4,860 448 (730) 4,578 (1,026) 3,552 (1,207) 2,345 (668) 1,677

28 Total General Revenue Reserves 22,852 5,071 (9,019) 18,904 (7,396) 11,508 485 11,993 543 12,536

29 Government Grants Received 690 421 (53) 1,058 (151) 907 (23) 884 0 884

30 Working Balance 1,798 9,819 (8,782) 2,835 (70) 2,765 (25) 2,740 (25) 2,715

31 Total Revenue Reserves 25,340 15,311 (17,854) 22,797 (7,617) 15,180 437 15,617 518 16,135

32 Capital Reserve
33 LAMS Reserve 266 38 0 304 26 330 0 330 0 330
34 St Peters Hill Development 519 2,684 (596) 2,607 (2,607) 0 0 0 0 0
35 General Fund Capital Reserve 2,008 59 (896) 1,171 223 1,394 (1,166) 228 (137) 91
36 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,924 870 0 3,794 (3,085) 709 100 809 (684) 125

37 Total Capital Reserves 5,717 3,651 (1,492) 7,876 (5,443) 2,433 (1,066) 1,367 (821) 546

38 Total General Fund Reserves 31,057 18,962 (19,346) 30,673 (13,060) 17,613 (629) 16,984 (303) 16,681

P
age - 34



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Adam Stokes
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

26th July 2018 

Proposed amendment to Budget Framework – Grounds 
Maintenance 2018/19 (CFM463)

Decision
Proposal:

Budget Framework Proposal

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Adam Stokes 
Cabinet Member for Finance

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Richard Wyles, Assistant Director - Resources
r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406210
Date: 11th July 2018

Alison Hall-Wright
Financial  Accountant Team Leader
Alison.Hall-Wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406208
Date: 11th July 2018 

Debbie Muddimer – Strategic Director of Resources
Debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk
01476 406301
Date: 13th July 2018

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet member for Finance
Date: 13th July 2018 

SUMMARY
This report sets out the proposed changes to the budget framework for 2018/19 in order 
to enable the necessary budget allocations to be made during the financial year.

Page - 35

Agenda Item 7b

mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Hall-Wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Debbie.muddimer@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION
Council is asked to approve:

 the amendment to the 2018/19 capital budget framework in respect of the 
procurement of equipment for the Grounds Maintenance service £450,000.

 The amendment to the 2018/19 revenue budget framework in respect of the 
setting up costs, including premises of £40K.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The 2018/19 budget framework was approved by Council at its meeting on 1st 
March 2018.

Since that time Cabinet has approved the establishment of a company model 
that will deliver the grounds maintenance service.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          
The details are contained in the agenda for the Cabinet meeting held on 12th 
July 2018 
(http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=
3624&Ver=4)

1.2 A summary of the decision is provided below: 

The grounds maintenance service is currently provided through a contract with 
an external provider which expires in February 2019. The contract covers 
grounds maintenance services for all the District Council owned parks, gardens, 
public amenity grass areas and the Council’s housing related stock.

The Council has had the opportunity to review and consider the options 
available as to how it provides the service in the future. The Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the options at their 20th June 
meeting. Its r preferred option was to deliver the service through a local 
authority owned company.  Cabinet also considered the options at its 12th July 
meeting. The key options and a suggested framework by which the different 
options could be evaluated was considered. The Cabinet recommended that 
the service should be delivered through a local authority owned company.

Whilst the service will be delivered through a new wholly owned local authority 
company arrangements need to be made now to facilitate the financing of the 
capital investment required to purchase the required plant and machinery ready 
for the new service to commence in March 2019.  It will also be necessary to 
establish suitable premises to house the new service which will require the 
leasing of an alternative depot site for the staffing and equipment.  This is 
anticipated to be required from December 2018 in readiness for March 2019 
and a provisional sum of £40K is requested.  In the event the sum cannot be 
diverted from existing budgets the sum will be funded from the local priorities 
reserve.

1.3 Proposed Budget Amendments

In order to facilitate the progression of the company and to prepare for the new 
delivery model to commence in March 2019 it is necessary for the Council to 

Page - 36

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3624&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3624&Ver=4


procure the necessary equipment.  This has been costed at approximately 
£450,000 and will be funded from the local priorities reserve.  

The breakdown of the capital requirement is shown below:

Mowers £218K
Trailers/shredders £28K
Vehicles £176K
Small equipment/tools £28K
Total £450K

A summary of the reserves position is provided at appendix A.
The equipment will then be transferred to the company upon its inception at the 
full purchase price.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 N/A

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The resource implications are considered in the report.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
None identified

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 N/A

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 N/A

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 These are considered in the report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The in-year change to the budget for 2018/19 is proposed to be approved by 
Council in accordance with Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

Page - 37



10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A – Updated General Fund Capital Programme and Reserves 
Statement 2018/19

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3
624&Ver=4

Page - 38

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3624&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3624&Ver=4


CAPITAL PROGRAMME

GENERAL FUND

Appendix A

2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Description Indicative Updated Additional Updated Indicative Indicative

Base Base Slippage Post yr End Base Base
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Growth
Town Centre Development

1        St Peter's Hill Redevelopment - 5,500 (100) 5,400 - -
2 Shop front scheme 130 130 130 130 -
3 Serviced Land - - 0 - -
4 Property Investment Strategy - 3,900 3,900 - -
5 Purchase of Emergency Planning & Response Trailer - 55 55 - -
6 Local Authority Controlled Company - 2,550 250 2,800 - -

130 12,135 150 12,285 130 -

Housing
7 Essential Home Grant Assistance 150 75 75 75 75
8 Empty Homes Financial Assistance - 50 50 - -
9 Disabled Facilities Grant - 797 797 50 50

150 922 - 922 125 125
Culture

10 Provision for Existing Assets
11 Grantham Council Offices - LV Panel - - - - -
12 GAC Theatre Lighting - 35 35 15 -
13 DLC Boilers - 70 70 - -
14 Tourism Signage - 50 50 50 50
15 Meres PA System - 35 35 - -
16 Market Stall Covers - 50 50 - -
17 Car Park Barriers - 50 50 - -
18 Car Park Ticket Machines 150 150
19 Queen Elizabeth Park Grantham Car Park - - - 30 -
20 Wyndham Park Lighting - 25 25 - -
21 Wyndham Park Improvement Works 119 357 36 393 - -

119 822 36 858 95 50

Environment
Waste Management

22        Street Scene Vehicle Procurement 525 311 200 511 313 13
23        Vehicle Replacement Programme 326 102 61 163 486 750
24        Pool Car Vehicles 128 247 247 - -
25        Big Clean Vehicles - - 39 39 - -
26        Wheelie Bin Replacements 112 175 175 112 112
27 Grounds Maintenance equipment 450 450

1,091 1,285 300 1,585 911 875

Corporate
28 Customer Access Strategy (telephony upgrade) - - - - -
29 Customer Relationship & Document Access Strategy - - - - -
30 Financial System Upgrade - 50 50 - -
31  Sandbox Firewall - 40 40 - -
32  Equillogic Server Based Storage - 20 20
33  Uninterruptible Power Supply Replacement - 15 15
34  ICT WiFi Infrastructure - - 42 42 - -

- 125 42 167 - -

35 TOTAL GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 1,490 15,289 528 15,817 1,261 1,050

Page - 39



Reserves Statement - General Fund Appendix A

GENERAL FUND RESERVES STATEMENT Budget Budget Budget 
Book Book Book

Balance Transfer Transfer Actual Balance Fcast Fcast Balance Fcast Fcast Balance Fcast Fcast Balance
as at to Reserve from Reserve as at Movement as at Movement as at Movement as at

31 March 2017 in year in year 31 March 2018 in year 31 March 2019 in year 31 March 2020 in year 31 March 2021
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund

Discretionary Reserves
1 Stamford Arts Centre 52 0 (19) 33 0 33 0 33 0 33
2 Training and Development 20 0 (5) 15 0 15 0 15 0 15
3 Events and Festivals 228 143 (138) 233 (135) 98 (100) (2) 0 (2)
4 Apprenticeships 100 0 (64) 36 (65) (29) (13) (42) 0 (42)
5 Broadband infrastructure 550 0 (550) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6 Waste and Recycling initatives 156 0 0 156 0 156 0 156 0 156
7 Support for corporate reviews 53 0 (53) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8 Business Support 100 0 (100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9 ICT investment 268 0 (95) 173 (118) 55 0 55 0 55

10 Transformation Programme 692 0 (692) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
11 Economic Development & Growth 91 140 (62) 169 (120) 49 0 49 0 49
12 Tourism 40 0 (40) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
13 Hardship & Welfare 50 0 (50) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
14 Service Improvement Reserve 1,347 0 (282) 1,065 (47) 1,018 (49) 969 0 969
15 Community Fund 150 96 (96) 150 (150) 0 0 0 0 0
16 Local Priorities Reserve 13,737 3,176 (5,992) 10,921 (3,893) 7,028 1,854 8,882 1,211 10,093
17 Invest to Save 358 495 (51) 802 (332) 470 0 470 0 470
18 Housing Delivery 0 347 0 347 0 347 0 347 0 347
19 Ward Members 0 56 0 56 0 56 0 56 0 56
20 Food Waste 0 170 0 170 0 170 0 170 0 170

20A Public Realm 150 150 0 150 0 150
17,992 4,623 (8,289) 14,326 (4,710) 9,466 1,692 11,158 1,211 12,369

Governance Reserves
21 Insurance Reserve 350 (13) 337 0 337 0 337 0 337
22 Pensions Reserve - Former Employees 220 296 (50) 466 (70) 396 (71) 325 (8) 317
23                                - Current EmployeesPensions Reserve - Current Employees 2,425 0 (657) 1,768 (727) 1,041 (847) 194 (750) (556)
24 BR & CTS Volatility 1,729 0 0 1,729 (183) 1,546 (339) 1,207 0 1,207
25 Building Control (66) 59 0 (7) 22 15 31 46 41 87
26 Football 3G Pitch 25 0 25 0 25 0 25 25
27 SEA Reserve 202 68 (10) 260 (68) 192 19 211 49 260

4,860 448 (730) 4,578 (1,026) 3,552 (1,207) 2,345 (668) 1,677

28 Total General Revenue Reserves 22,852 5,071 (9,019) 18,904 (5,736) 13,168 485 13,653 543 14,196

29 Government Grants Received 690 421 (53) 1,058 (151) 907 (23) 884 0 884

30 Working Balance 1,798 9,819 (8,782) 2,835 (70) 2,765 (25) 2,740 (25) 2,715

31 Total Revenue Reserves 25,340 15,311 (17,854) 22,797 (5,957) 16,840 437 17,277 518 17,795

32 Capital Reserve
33 LAMS Reserve 266 38 0 304 26 330 0 330 0 330
34 St Peters Hill Development 519 2,684 (596) 2,607 (2,607) 0 0 0 0 0
35 General Fund Capital Reserve 2,008 59 (896) 1,171 223 1,394 (1,166) 228 (137) 91
36 Useable Capital Receipts Reserve 2,924 870 0 3,794 (3,085) 709 100 809 (684) 125

37 Total Capital Reserves 5,717 3,651 (1,492) 7,876 (5,443) 2,433 (1,066) 1,367 (821) 546

38 Total General Fund Reserves 31,057 18,962 (19,346) 30,673 (11,400) 19,273 (629) 18,644 (303) 18,341

P
age - 40



COUNCIL

Report of: 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council and

Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, 
Wellbeing and Skills

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

26 July 2018

Temporary Appointment of Members to Town and 
Parish Councils  (LDS295)

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Members:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader of the Council
Councillor Jacky Smith, Cabinet Member for Communities, Health, 
Wellbeing and Skills

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication:

Julie Edwards, Elections and Democratic Team Leader
Tel: 01476 40 60 78
Email: j.edwards@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 8 June 2018

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel : 01476 40 61 52
Email: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 15 June 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel : 01476 40 61 05
Email: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 20 June 2018

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Date: 27 June 2018
Councillor Jacky Smith
Date: 20 June 2018

SUMMARY

Parish and Town Councils need to be quorate in order to operate and conduct 
business.
There may be occasions when, due to resignations or insufficient candidates being 

Page - 41

Agenda Item 8

mailto:j.edwards@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk


nominated at the whole Council elections, a Parish or Town Council is unable to 
operate because it is inquorate.  

This report proposes that the Council agrees a process to make temporary Member 
appointments to Parish and Town Councils which may become inquorate in the future, 
and that delegated authority is granted to the Chief Executive to ensure that 
appointments can be made in accordance with an approved process.  Having such a 
process in place would enable a Parish or Town Council to continue to operate until 
vacancies are filled.  

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

1. The Council delegates the authority to make temporary appointments of 
Members to Town and Parish Councils under Section 91 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 to the Chief Executive, in accordance with the process set 
out in Appendix A to report LDS295, and to report any such appointments to the 
next meeting of the Council.

2. The Council approves the amendment of the Constitution to include the 
recommended delegation as a function of the Chief Executive at Article 16 of the 
Constitution.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Ordinary elections to Town and Parish Councils take place every four years at 
the same time as elections to South Kesteven District Council.  The next 
scheduled elections will be held on 2 May 2019.  During the four year period 
between the ordinary elections, Parish and Town Councillor casual vacancies 
arise on a regular basis and can be filled either by election or co-option in 
accordance with relevant legislation.

1.2 A Town or Parish Council must be quorate in order to operate.  A quorum is 
defined as being one third of the total number of members of the relevant 
Council subject to a minimum of three.  

1.3 There may be occasions when a Parish Council is unable to operate due to 
resignations or insufficient candidates at the full elections to Town and Parish 
Councils. While a Parish / Town Council can operate with one or two vacancies, 
if a number of vacancies arise at the same time there is a risk that the Council 
could become inquorate.  

1.4 There have been two occasions recently where, following a number of 
resignations, a Parish Council has been inquorate and unable to operate.  In 
these instances an election was called to fill the vacancies and sufficient 
nominations were received to enable an election to take place.   During the 
election process to fill these vacancies, the Parish Councils concerned were 

Page - 42



unable to operate or continue with their lawful functions and provide local 
residents with representation at a parish level until the vacant seats were filled.

1.5 The Local Government Act 1972 allows the District Council to make an Order to 
make temporary appointments to Parish or Town Councils until such time as the 
vacancies can be filled either by election or co-option.

1.6 Given the frequency of full District Council meetings which would agree to an 
Order being made to appoint temporary members to an inquorate Town or 
Parish Council, it is proposed that a process be put in place to enable such 
appointments to be made more quickly in the future.

1.7 A proposed process is set out at Appendix A to this report.  The proposed 
procedure would only be used where the Town or Parish Council advises that it 
cannot continue its business because it is inquorate.  

1.8 The benefit of doing this now is that if any Town or Parish Councils become 
inquorate, either following the full Parish/Town Council elections in 2019 or as a 
result of casual vacancies caused by resignations, there is a clear and 
approved mechanism in place to deal with this.

1.9 It is proposed that the authority to appoint temporary Members be delegated to 
the Chief Executive.

1.10 The process proposes that members are offered the temporary position of 
Town/Parish Councillor in the following order until sufficient Members have 
been elected or co-opted to achieve a quorum:

a) District Councillor(s) for the ward in which the Parish/Town is located;

b) District Councillor(s) for adjacent wards to which the Parish/Town is located;

c) County Councillor for the division in which the Parish/Town is located;

d) In consultation with Group Leaders, other Councillors will be considered and 
may include Town/Parish Councillors from adjacent Parishes.

1.11 Any Councillor may decline the appointment, in which case the offer of 
appointment to other Councillors will continue in the order listed in Appendix A 
until a quorum has been achieved.

1.12 Lincolnshire County Council has been informed because of the potential impact 
of the proposed process on County Councillors.  Any comments received from 
the County Council will be reported at the meeting. 

1.13 All temporary appointments should end when sufficient permanent Town/Parish 
Councillors have been elected or co-opted to make the Town or Parish Council 
quorate and they have taken up office.  A sealed Order will be sent to the 
Secretary of State and a copy sent to the Parish Council in accordance with the 
legislation.

Page - 43



1.14 A report detailing the action taken would be presented to the next available 
meeting of the District Council.  If it is not possible to appoint sufficient 
temporary members using the process identified at Appendix A, a report would 
be submitted to the next meeting of the District Council for Members to consider 
the way forward for the Parish.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The District Council may decide not to delegate its powers under Section 91 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 to appoint temporary Parish/Town Councillors 
and make any such appointments at the next available meeting of the Council. 
With the frequency of full District Council meetings, this option may result in a 
delay in the necessary temporary appointments being made and the Parish or 
Town Council being unable to operate for a longer period.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications applicable to this report. 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable to this report.  

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications relating to this report.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There would be minor  implications relating to this report.  Travel costs would be 
payable to any member appointed on a temporary basis to a Parish or Town 
Council as this is a role they are undertaking on behalf of the District Council.    
Provision for payment of members travel expenses should be able to be 
contained within the budget for 2018/19 (although this proposal was not 
considered at the time of the budget being approved and therefore not 
included).  

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 S.91(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 authorises the District Council to 
make an Order to appoint Members to a Town or Parish Council to ensure it is 
quorate and can progress business and operate lawfully.  Such appointments 
can be made on a temporary basis until the vacancies on the relevant Council 
have been filled.

Page - 44



8.2 S.101 of the Local Government Act 1972 sets out the arrangements for the 
discharge of functions by local authorities. It confirms that a local authority may 
arrange for the discharge of any of its functions by a committee, sub-committee 
or an officer of the authority.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A – Process for making temporary appointments to Parish and Town 
Councils

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 Section 91 of the Local Government Act 1972

Page - 45



Appendix A

Process for Making Temporary Appointments to Town and 
Parish Councils

This process enables South Kesteven District Council to make an Order to appoint 
persons to Town/Parish Councils in accordance with Section 91 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

1. The Town/Parish Clerk advises the Monitoring Officer that the Council is unable 
to operate due to being inquorate.

2. The Monitoring Officer verifies the number of seats on the Town/Parish Council 
and that it is inquorate.  The number of appointments required for it to become 
quorate is identified.

3. The Chief Executive will offer the temporary position of Town/Parish Councillor 
in the following order.  Any Councillor may decline the appointment, in which 
case the offer of appointment will continue in order until a quorum has been 
achieved.

e) District Councillor(s) for the ward in which the Parish/Town is located;

f) District Councillor(s) for adjacent wards to which the Parish/Town is located;

g) County Councillor for the division in which the Parish/Town is located;

h) In consultation with Group Leaders, other Councillors will be considered and 
may include Town/Parish Councillors from adjacent Parishes.

4. All appointments must be made by Order under Section 91(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

5. A report detailing the action taken will be submitted to the next full meeting of 
the District Council for information.

6. In the event that appointments cannot be made a report will be submitted to the 
next meeting of the District Council for Members to consider the way forward for 
the Parish/Town.

7. In accordance with Section 91(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
Monitoring Officer will forward two copies of the Order to the Secretary of State.  
A copy will also be sent to the Clerk of the Town/Parish Council for information.

8. The Order is to stipulate the names of the appointed persons and the latest 
date their appointment will expire.

Page - 46



COUNCIL

Report of Councillor Mrs. Brenda Sumner
Chairman of the Constitution Committee

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council 

26 July 2018

Report from the Constitution Committee – 4 June 
2018 (LDS304)

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 5 July 2018

Julie Edwards, Elections and Democratic Services Team Leader
Tel: 01476 40 60 78 E-mail: j.edwards@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 10 July 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 11th July 2018

Councillor Mrs. Brenda Sumner, Chairman of the Constitution 
Committee
Date: 12th July 2018

SUMMARY

At its meeting on 4 June 2018 the Constitution Committee considered and made 
recommendations to Council to amend the Constitution in relation to:

 Arrangements for questioning public speakers at meetings of the Development 
Management Committee 

 Article 16 of the Constitution to align its wording with the Leader’s Scheme of 
Delegation circulated following the Council meeting on 24 May 2018

Page - 47

Agenda Item 9



RECOMMENDATION

1. Article 9 – Regulatory Committees

1.1 That Article 9.1.9 a) (viii)  of the Constitution is amended by deleting the 
existing clause and adding a new clause 9.1.9 a) (viii) as follows:

“Questions may only be put by Committee members to the applicant, an 
agent and/or a specialist adviser/consultant whether speaking on behalf of 
the applicant, for the grant of an application, or against the grant of an 
application. Questions must be relevant to the application being 
considered and limited to the following matters:

 Anything that they have specifically referenced in their speech
 Anything that is contained in the application
 Anything that has been made in a representation by the speaker in 

respect of the application

Questions may be asked of public speakers by the Chairman and/or Vice-
Chairman but only to establish the source of any material facts stated by a 
public speaker. Questions may be suggested by Committee Members to 
the Chairman who may put the question to the speaker if they are felt, by 
the Chairman, to be relevant.”

1.2  Article 9.1.9 a) (v) be amended to read:

Each person is allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes and may 
be required to answer questions in accordance with Article 9.1.9 (a) (viii).

2. Article 16 - Officers

2.1 That Article 16 be amended to include the words shown underlined below:

That the Chief Executive is delegated with authority:
   In liaison with the Leader of the Council, to authorise officers who are 

suitably trained and qualified to carry out functions when the authorised 
post becomes vacant or ceases to exist. 

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 Article 9 – Regulatory Committees (Development Management Committee)

1.1.1 The Council’s Constitution makes provision for Members to ask questions of 
any public speakers at meetings of the Council’s Development Management 
Committee. Councillors may ask questions of any speaker for up to 10 minutes 
following their verbal representation.

1.1.2 At its meeting on 23 November 2017 the Council agreed a 6-month pilot that 
limited the general questioning of speakers by Committee Members to the 
applicant, an applicant’s agent and/or a specialist adviser/consultant whether 
speaking on behalf of the applicant or against the grant of an application. In 
order to establish the legitimacy of comments made by a public speaker, the 

Page - 48



Chairman and/or Vice-Chairman will be able to ask a public speaker the source 
of any facts that the speaker has presented to the Committee. Committee 
members may suggest questions to the Chairman who, if he feels they are 
relevant, may put those questions to speakers.

1.1.3 The pilot period has now come to an end and the Constitution Committee 
recommended to Council that the change should be permanent and the 
Constitution amended accordingly. 

1.1.4 The Constitution Committee recommended that the temporary arrangements 
should remain in place during the interim period between the cessation of the 
pilot and consideration by the Council of whether to make the change 
permanent.

1.1.5 The deliberations of the Committee are captured in the minutes of the meeting, 
which are attached as Appendix A to this report. It was clarified that the 
proposed changes to public speaking at Development Management Committee 
did not in any way propose a change to the Ward Members’ right to speak at 
Development Management Committee for the period of 5 minutes.

1.2 Article 16 – Officers

1.2.1 Following the Annual Council meeting on 24 May 2018 the Leader of the 
Council circulated his scheme of delegation to all Members. The scheme of 
delegation proposed a change to Article 16 of the Constitution relating to 
delegations to officers. 

1.2.2 The wording of Article 16 gives the Chief Executive the authority to authorise 
officers in accordance with the officer scheme of delegation following a vacancy 
in a post or removal of a post from the officer structure. The scheme of 
delegation proposed that the Chief Executive should be delegated authority to 
authorise officers in these circumstances in liaison with the Leader of the 
Council.

1.2.3 For the proposed change to become effective, a change to the Constitution 
would need to be agreed by the Council.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council may continue with the existing constitutional arrangements in 
relation to the questioning of public speakers at Development Management 
Committee meetings and the authorisation of officers by the Chief Executive.

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications arising from this report. 

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks have 
been identified as a result of the recommendations made. 

Page - 49



5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 An equality impact assessment is not required in respect of this report. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The Constitution permits public speaking at Development Management 
Committee meetings. The rules of procedure relating to public speaking are set 
out at Article 9.1.9a). These rules permit Members of the Committee to put 
questions to public speakers. The amendment proposed permits questions from 
the Committee Members to be asked directly of the applicant, appointed agents 
or specialist advisers. Questions to other public speakers could be put through 
the Chairman or Vice-Chairman who would determine whether they were 
appropriate. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 Not applicable.

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A: minutes of the Constitution Committee held on 4 June 2018

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 The Council’s Constitution: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3630/Public%20reports%2
0pack%2011th-Apr-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10  

Page - 50

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3630/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Apr-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3630/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Apr-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10


MINUTES
CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE
MONDAY, 4 JUNE 2018

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Robert Reid
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Mrs Brenda Sumner (Chairman)

OFFICERS OTHER MEMBERS

Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Democratic Officer (Lucy Bonshor) 

Councillor Phil Dilks
Councillor Martin Wilkins

1. MEMBERSHIP

The Committee were notified that Councillor Jacky Smith was substituting for 
Councillor Ian Stokes and Councillor Reid was substituting for Councillor 
Westropp.

2. APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sampson and Councillor 
Coutts.

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

None disclosed.

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11TH DECEMBER 2017

As the minutes of the last meeting had been presented to Council and 
Members present had not attended the last meeting of the Committee, a vote 
on the minutes was not required.

Page - 51

Appendix A



5. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION

Decision:

2.1 That the Constitution Committee recommends to Council the 
amendment of Article 9.1.9 a) (viii) by deleting the existing clause 
and adding a new clause 9.1.9 a) (viii) as follows:

“Questions may only be put by Committee members to the 
applicant, an agent and/or a specialist advisor/consultant whether 
speaking on behalf of the applicant, for the grant of an application 
or against the grant of an application.  Questions must be relevant 
to the application being considered and limited to the following 
matters:

 Anything that they have specifically referenced in their 
speech

 Anything that is contained in the application
 Anything that has been made in a representation by the 

speaker in respect of the application

Questions may be asked of public speakers by the Chairman and/or 
Vice-Chairman but only to establish the source of any material 
facts stated by a public speaker.   Questions may be suggested by 
Committee Members to the Chairman who may put the question to 
the speakers if they are felt, by the Chairman, to be relevant.”

2.2  Article 9.1.9 a) (v) be amended to read:

Each person is allowed to speak for a maximum of three minutes 
and may be required to answer questions in accordance with 
Article 9.1.9 (a) (viii).

That the trial period for public speaking at Development Management 
Committee be continued for a further period until the issue has been 
determined by Council on 26 July 2018.

The Chairman of the Development Management Committee presented report 
LDS296 which proposed changes to questioning members of the public 
speaking at meetings of the Development Management Committee (DMC).  A 
six month trial had been undertaken following the decision made by the 
Constitution Committee at its meeting on 13 November 2018.  

In the past questions to the general public could be seen as leading in nature 
and for some speakers it was intimidating to speak before the Committee and 
then be asked questions a lot of which were not directly related to what the 
speaker had said.

Page - 52



The proposal did not stop Members asking questions of public speakers but 
these were directed through the Chairman or Vice Chairman and were only put 
if they were relevant.  The Chairman of the Development Management 
Committee felt that the trial had worked well.  Members were not stopped from 
asking questions.  They were directed through the Chairman or Vice-Chairman 
which assisted the running of the Committee meeting.  There was no intention 
to restrict the number of speakers at the Committee. Agents, applicants and 
those with technical knowledge would still be allowed to be questioned by the 
Committee whether they were for or against an application. He asked that the 
Committee recommend that following the trial the amendments be included 
within the Constitution.

A discussion then followed with those Members present putting forward their 
views on the proposed amendment to the Constitution.  One Member who 
attended in his role as a Group Leader spoke against the proposal and asked 
for clarity about the content of the proposed recommendation and why there 
was a need for change to which the Chairman of the DMC replied.

Those Members present who also attended the Development Management 
Committee agreed that the meetings had been better during the period of the 
trial.   Members of the Committee had the opportunity to ask questions but 
these were put through the Chairman or Vice Chairman.  Reference was also 
made to Members who rather than asking a question made a statement or 
speech, which should be made during the debate of an application not during 
the preamble of an application.  Such statements should not be directed to a 
member of the public.  Having the questions put through the Chairman of Vice 
Chairman also made clear to the member of the public what the question was.

As the next Council meeting, at which any recommendation from the 
Committee would be determined, was not until 26 July 2018.  It was suggested 
that an amendment be made to the recommendation that the trial period 
continue for the period until the Council had the opportunity to determine 
whether or not the Constitution should be amended to reflect the trial for public 
speaking at Development Management Committees. Reference was also made 
to Article 9.1.9 a) (v) which would need to be amended if the amendment to 
public speaking was agreed.  There was no intention to reduce the time Ward 
Members could speak from five to three minutes.   Members agreed that the 
trial continue for the period until the Council considered the recommendation 
from the Committee. On being put to the vote it was proposed, seconded and 
agreed to continue with the trial for the period suggested and that the 
recommendation as outline within the report be agreed including the 
amendment necessary to Article 9.1.9 a) (v) that “Each person is allowed to 
speak for a maximum of three minutes and may be required to answer 
questions in accordance with Article 9.1.9 (a) (viii)”.

Page - 53



6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASONS OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT

The following issue was raised by the Chairman as urgent due to the need to 
amend the Constitution to reflect the proposed amendment to Article 16 as 
circulated at Council on 24 May 2018.

The Chairman referred to the Leaders scheme of delegation which was 
circulated at Council on 24 May 2018.  As part of the scheme of delegation an 
amendment to Article 16 was proposed to be included within the Chief 
Executives delegation.  It is a delegation to the Chief Executive to authorise 
offices who are suitably trained and qualified to carry out functions when the 
authorised post becomes vacant or ceases to exist and update the Constitution 
accordingly. The proposal required that this delegation was amended to include 
“in liaison with the Leader of the Council” so that it read:

 In liaison with the Leader of the Council, to authorise offices who are suitably 
trained and qualified to carry out functions when the authorised post becomes 
vacant or ceases to exist and update the Constitution accordingly.

It was proposed, seconded and agreed that the words in liaison with the Leader 
of the Council be included.

Recommendation:

That Article 16 relating to the delegations to the Chief Executive in 
respect of the functions of the Chief Executive be amended to read:

In liaison with  the Leader of the Council, to authorise officers who are 
suitably trained and qualified to carry out functions when the authorised 
post becomes vacant or ceases to exist and update the Constitution 
accordingly.

7. CLOSE OF MEETING

Before the meeting closed reference was made to outside bodies and Members 
appointment on them.    It was confirmed that appointments to outside bodies 
were only included in the Constitution by way of reference to the appointments 
being a function of the Council.  It was possible for the Constitution Committee 
to consider the issue of appointments to outside bodies with a view to including 
further reference in the Constitution.  It was confirmed that a review of outside 
bodies would take place and a consideration of the remit for the review would 
be brought before the Committee.

Meeting closed at 11:22am.

Page - 54



COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

26th July 2018

Change of name of the Culture and Tourism 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Report LDS306

Decision
Proposal:

Council Decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Deputy Leader

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Lucy Bonshor, Democratic Officer.
E-mail: l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk.
Tel: 01476 406120
Date: 12th July 2018
 
Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer.
E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406152
Date: 13th July 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Tel: 01476 406105
Date: 13th July 2018

Councillor Kelham Cooke
Date: 14th July 2018

SUMMARY
At a meeting of the Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 10th 
July 2018, the Members of the Committee considered the name of the Committee. It 
determined that the Council should be asked to consider a change of name to Culture 
and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee which should also be reflected 
in the Committee’s remit. 

Page - 55

Agenda Item 10

mailto:l.bonshor@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk


RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that Council

 agree the change of name of the Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, and 

 agree the change of terminology for the remit of the Committee from Tourism to 
Visitor Economy, and

 agree the relevant changes in the Constitution.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 The Council agreed at its meeting on the 20th April 2017 to constitute five 
overview and scrutiny committees including one for Culture and Tourism. The 
Committees would develop their own remits and be sufficiently dynamic to 
respond to emerging challenges.

1.2 The remit for Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been 
developed to include, but is not limited to:

 Arts 
 Heritage 
 Markets and Fairs 
 Sports 
 Tourism

1.3 The Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed at its 
meeting on the 10th July 2018 that the word “tourism” did not give the correct 
impression of the area of work which the Committee undertook. The definition of 
“visitor economy” was wider than tourism and included all staying and non-
staying visitors (including categories such as business day visits and leisure day 
visits not currently measured as part of tourism industries). It includes the 
economic benefit of tourism.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 No other options have been considered relating to the recommendations made. 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no resource implications relating to this report.  

4 RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Category Risk Action / Controls
None

Page - 56



5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 There is no requirement for any impact analysis relating to this report. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications.

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial implications arising from the proposed change of name or 
remit.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees were constituted by Council and any 
change of name should be determined by Council.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

The Constitution:
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3734/Public%20reports%2
0pack%2011th-Jul-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10 

Minutes of the Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 10 
July 2018: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=629&MId=3
645&Ver=4 

Page - 57

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3734/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Jul-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/g3734/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Jul-2018%20Constitution.pdf?T=10
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=629&MId=3645&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=629&MId=3645&Ver=4


COUNCIL 

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

COUNCIL

26 July 2018

CMT002: Section151 and Chief Finance Officer

Decision
Proposal:

Council decision

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council 

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Elaine Pepper – Head of Organisational Development
E-mail: e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk. Tel: 01476 406132
Date: 12/07/2018

Lee Sirdifield – Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation and 
Change
E-mail: l.sirdifield@southkesteven.gov.uk. Tel: 01476 406524
Date: 12 July 2018

Aidan Rave - Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service
E-mail: aidan.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk. Tel: 01476 406100
Date: 16 July 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, The Leader of the Council
Date: 16 July 2018

SUMMARY

The report proposes the appointment of the post of Chief Finance Officer and Section 
151 Officer at South Kesteven District Council, as well as amendments to delegations 
contained within the Constitution which relate to the Chief Financial Officer.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Council:
 Approves the appointment of Debbie Muddimer (formerly Mogg,) Director of 

Page - 58

Agenda Item 11

mailto:e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:l.sirdifield@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:aidan.rave@southkesteven.gov.uk


Resources, to the post of Section 151 and Chief Finance Officer for South Kesteven 
District Council on a permanent basis with effect from 26th July 2018.

 Delegates to the Director of Resources those functions and delegations set out in 
the Constitution as delegations to the Chief Finance Officer/Section151 Officer.

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 In accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council 
is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial 
affairs and shall secure that one of its officers has responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs. 

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 details the vocational requirements of 
the post-holder and the duties that must be completed. Section 113 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 requires the person to be a member of a 
specified accounting body. Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 places personal duties and requirements upon the post-holder in respect 
of actual or anticipated financial misconduct. This mirrors the function of the 
monitoring officer in respect of law and maladministration.

1.3 The Council previously appointed Debbie Muddimer to the position of Chief 
Finance and Section 151 Officer on an interim basis from the 23rd November 
2017 to date. On 4th June 2018, Employment Committee appointed Debbie 
Muddimer as the Director of Resources on a permanent basis. It is therefore 
proposed that the Section 151 Officer arrangements are also made permanent.

1.4 Debbie Muddimer has previously held the positions of Director for Resources, 
Head of Strategic Finance and Corporate Finance Manager at Rutland County 
Council (RCC). Prior to working at RCC Debbie played a key role at KPMG’s 
Public Sector Team based in Birmingham.  

1.5 Debbie Muddimer’s management qualifications include a Post Graduate 
Diploma in Public Leadership and Management and a Level 4 Diploma from the 
Institute of Leadership and Management.

1.6 Debbie Muddimer’s financial qualifications include being a Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) qualified accountant and a CIPFA 
member. 

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 None

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 None

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 
included in the table below:

Page - 59



Category Risk Action / Controls
None

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 The permanent appointment to this position is being made in accordance with 
relevant legislation and applicable policies.

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 This position is budgeted within the Establishment list and therefore there are 
no financial implications arising from this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 There is a statutory requirement for the appointment of a s.151 officer to make 
arrangements for the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs. 
That appointment must be made by Council from one of its officers or through a 
sharing arrangement. The post of s151 officer must be regarded as a politically 
restricted post. The proposed appointee has the required qualifications as 
detailed in the report which are specified bodies recognised at s.113 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988.

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDIX

10.1 None

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 Minutes of the Employment Committee 4th June 2018: 
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3
607&Ver=4 

Page - 60

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3607&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=638&MId=3607&Ver=4


COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report to:

Date:

Subject:

Council

26 July 2018

Cabinet meetings held since 25 May 2018 (LDS303)

Decision
Proposal:

No decision required

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member:

Councillor Matthew Lee
The Leader of the Council

Report author:

Reviewed by:

Signed off by:

Approved for 
publication

Jo Toomey, Principal Democracy Officer
Tel: 01476 40 61 52 E-mail: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 
Date: 2 July 2018

Margaret Welton, Senior Research and Support Assistant
Tel: 01476 40 64 15 E-mail: margaret.welton@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 13 July 2018

Lucy Youles, Solicitor to the Council
Tel: 01476 40 61 05 E-mail: l.youles@southkesteven.gov.uk
Date: 13 July 2018

Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council
Date: 13 July 2018

SUMMARY

The minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 10 May 2018 as approved by Cabinet at 
its meeting on 7 June 2018 and the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 June 
2018 and as approved at the Cabinet meeting on 12 July 2018 are appended to this 
report for noting by the Council. 

The minutes of the Cabinet’s meeting held on 12 July 2018 will be made available at a 
future meeting of Council following approval by the Cabinet.

Page - 61

Agenda Item 12



RECOMMENDATION

The Council is asked to note the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 10 May 2018 
(Appendix A to this report) and 7 June 2018 (Appendix B to this report).

1. BACKGROUND TO REPORT

1.1 South Kesteven District Council operates a Leader and Cabinet arrangement 
as established under the Local Government Act 2000. In 2010 the Council 
adopted the strong Leader model under provisions within the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

1.2 The Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 
2000 set out the responsible body for different functions, specifically those 
functions that are not executive functions, those that may be determined by an 
authority’s executive and those functions that are not the sole responsibility of 
the executive. All other functions are, by default, executive functions and would 
therefore, under the Council’s arrangements, be determined by the Cabinet. 
The requirements of these Regulations mean that at its meetings, the Cabinet 
may make some decisions outright whilst in other instances it may make 
recommendations to Council. 

1.3 The minutes of Cabinet’s meeting are made available to the Council to note the 
decisions taken by the Cabinet. The agendas, reports to Cabinet and individual 
Cabinet Member decisions are all available on the Council’s website should 
members wish to read them.

2. OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not applicable. 

3. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Not applicable.

4. RISK AND MITIGATION 

4.1 Risk has been considered as part of this report and no specific high risks were 
identified.

5. ISSUES ARISING FROM IMPACT ANALYSIS (EQUALITY, SAFEGUARDING 
etc.)

5.1 An equality analysis is not applicable to this report. Analysis will be carried out 
as required in respect of the matters brought before the Cabinet for decision. 

6. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

Page - 62



7. COMMENTS OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

7.1 There are no financial comments arising as a result of this report.

8. COMMENTS OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

8.1 There is a requirement to publish Cabinet decisions in accordance with the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. These minutes have been recorded 
to inform members of the deliberations at the meeting. 

9. COMMENTS OF OTHER RELEVANT SERVICES 

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix A: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 10 May 
2018.

10.2 Appendix B: The approved minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 June 2018

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS

11.1 None

Page - 63



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 10 MAY 2018

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Michael King
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor David Taylor
Councillor Ray Wootten
Councillor Linda Wootten

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Environment (Tracey Blackwell)
Strategic Director, Growth (Steve Ingram)
S.151/Chief Finance Officer (Debbie Mogg)
Assistant Chief Executive (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Director, Environment (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Growth & Development (Paul Thomas)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Assistant Director, Legal & Democratic (Lucy Youles)
Assistant Director, Transformation & Change (Judith Davids)
Interim Service Manager, Communication (Adrian Smith)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

CO146. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12 APRIL 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 12 April 2018 were agreed as a correct 
record.

Page - 64

Appendix A



CO147. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

No interests were disclosed.

CO148. *REVISED LOCAL PLAN - SUBMISSION DOCUMENT AND 
STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

Decision: 

1. Cabinet recommends to Council the approval of the Proposed 
Submission Local Plan as set out at Appendix 2 of report SEG58 for 
the purpose of publication for representations in accordance with 
Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations and then submission 
to the Secretary of State

2. To agree that any minor corrections to the document can be 
approved by the Cabinet Member for Economy and Development, 
so long as these do not substantially affect the substance of any 
policies or land allocations

3. Cabinet approves the revised Statement of Community Involvement 
as set out at Appendix 3 of report SEG58 for consultation

Considerations/Reasons for decision

1. Report number SEG58 of the Cabinet Member for Economy and 
Development on the revised Local Plan – submission document and 
Statement of Community Involvement

2. The requirement in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) that 
every local authority has a clear, up-to-date Local Plan that: 

a. Conforms with the NPPF
b. Meets identified local development needs
c. Reflects local people’s views about how they wish their 

community to develop
3. Responses received during a period of non-statutory consultation on a 

Consultative Draft Local Plan, which ran from June 2017 (the main 
changes as a result of this consultation are set out in appendix 1 to 
report SEG58)

4. The draft Local Submission Plan (attached as appendix 2 to report 
SEG58)

5. The Government consultation document ‘Putting the Right Homes in the 
Right Places’ regarding housing need assessment

6. Objectively assessed housing and employment needs
7. The draft revised National Planning Policy Framework
8. Information on the steps required for the Local Plan following  

consideration by Cabinet and Council
9. Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations setting out the requirements 

for consultation
10.Comments made by Members at meetings of the old Growth Policy 

Page - 65



Development Group and more recently the Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, including a workshop of the latter to which all 
Members were invited

11.The requirement to prepare a Statement of Community Involvement as 
set out in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act

12.The draft Statement of Community Involvement set out in appendix 3 to 
report SEG58 together with an equality analysis

Other options considered:

The only other option available to the Council would be to not undertake the 
production of the Local Plan. This would not be in line with Government 
requirements and expectations, and would also lead to development proposals 
coming forward in an uncoordinated way with no long-term strategic direction to 
guide growth. This would not be in the best interests of the District, its 
communities, residents and businesses.

* * *

The Cabinet Member for Economy and Development presented report number 
SEG58. He outlined the work that had already been undertaken in preparing 
the revised Local Plan and drew Members’ attention to an informal consultation 
exercise that had been conducted in June 2017.This had informed the draft 
submission Plan. During discussions, other Members spoke favourably of the 
consultation and how the information had informed the submission version of 
the Local Plan. 

The Cabinet Member proceeded to outline those measures within the 
document that were either new or enhanced from the previous versions. He 
also referred to proposed allocations. The Cabinet Member also outlined the 
process that the submission Plan would undergo subject to its approval by 
Council on 24 May 2018, including how feedback generated during the formal 
consultation period would be used.

Cabinet Members were also advised about a change in Government policy on 
the methodology for calculating housing need, how the Council had responded 
to that and its impact on the production of the submission Plan document.

During debate, Members referred to changes that would allow limited 
development in villages, which was welcomed. Some concerns were expressed 
about the impact of any increase in development on services and community 
facilities. Reference was also made to the emergency services’ ability to 
respond to the proposed growth across the district.

Support was expressed for a new document that was being introduced, which 
focused on good design. Members were advised that the Council had been 
awarded grant funding by Government to support the preparation of such a 
document.

Cabinet Members agreed unanimously to support the recommendations in the 

Page - 66



report.

CO149. *HIGHER STREET STANDARD

Decision:

That Cabinet approves the adoption of the South Kesteven Higher Street 
Standard as appended to report number ENV692 (including amendment to 
the plan relating to Grantham)

Considerations/Reasons for decision

1. Report number ENV691 of the Cabinet Member for Environment on the 
introduction of a Higher Street Standard for South Kesteven and the 
draft higher Street Standard document attached as appendix 1 to the 
report (including amendment to the plan relating to Grantham)

2. A recommendation (listed in ENV660) that was made when the Big 
Clean project was approved to develop a South Kesteven street scene 
standard which would reflect the improvements made during the Big 
Clean

3. The national standard for cleanliness set out in the Code of Practice on 
Litter and Refuse

4. Provision within the 2018/19 Budget for two additional teams with 
specialist equipment

5. A recommendation made by the Environment Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 24 April 2018 to adopt the Standard

Other options considered:

No other options have been given detailed consideration

* * *

In presenting the recommendations in report ENV692, the Cabinet Member 
made reference to the Big Clean project. He explained that in preparing the 
new South Kesteven standard, reference had been made to the national 
standards and the standards to which other local authorities were working. The 
Higher Street Standard document included maps showing the level of priority 
that would be afforded to different areas. During discussion, the suggestion 
was made by a non-Cabinet Member that the zone in Grantham town centre 
should be expanded to include the area around Station Road and Railway 
Terrace; the Cabinet Member agreed to look at incorporating this area.

Several Members who spoke referred to the impact of the Big Clean, how it had 
been received and the affect that it had had on local communities’ pride.

Part of the Higher Street Standards document gave an indication of intended 
allocations and visits. It was acknowledged that this was indicative and that 
some areas may need more time while others would need less. Members were 

Page - 67



reassured that even if there were no reported issues in an area, teams would 
still visit and carry out general tasks like weed-ripping and bin cleaning. Any 
other spare time, it would be used to work on the areas between villages.

Cabinet Members unanimously agreed the recommendations in the report.

CO150. *SOUTH KESTEVEN DISTRICT COUNCIL'S TENANT INVOLVEMENT 
FRAMEWORK

Decision:

To adopt the South Kesteven District Council Tenant Involvement 
Framework as attached at appendix 1 to report number Housing 133.

Considerations:

1. Report number Housing 133 of the Cabinet Member for Communities 
and proposed Tenant Involvement Framework attached as Appendix 1 
to the report

2. Draft terms of reference for the Tenants’ Panel attached as appendix 2 
to report number Housing 133, which would be a consultative group for 
the Council as it explored ways to improve the housing service

3. An equality analysis attached as appendix 3 to report number Housing 
133

4. Feedback on the Tenant Involvement Survey attached at appendix 4 to 
report number Housing 133

5. Comments of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and its recommendation of 20 March 2018 that the 
Framework be adopted

Other options considered:

No other options were considered. Local authority landlords who retain their 
stock are expected to meet the four ‘consumer’ standards set out by the Homes 
and Community Agency to develop and provide their tenants with opportunities 
to influence, and be involved in, the formulation of housing policies and 
strategic priorities; the making of decisions such as setting service standards 
and the scrutiny of performance.

* * *

The Cabinet Member for Communities presented report Housing133 
summarising the activities that had been undertaken in the preparation of the 
new Strategy. The Chairman of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee addressed the Cabinet to express the Committee’s support 
for the document.

Brief discussion ensued on how the sample used for consultation was 
identified.

Page - 68



The Cabinet Members unanimously agreed the recommendations in report 
number Housing 133.

CO151. CORPORATE STRATEGY

Decision:

Cabinet recommends the adoption of the draft Corporate Strategy 2018 to 
Council

Considerations/Reasons for decision

1. Report number ACEX002 of the Leader of the Council and the draft 
Corporate Strategy (Appendix 1 to the report)

2. The political vision of the Council
3. Feedback from the staff survey conducted in 2017 and subsequent 

culture and morale workshops
4. Feedback from the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting (9 

April 2018) and Councillor Briefing (19 March 2018)
5. The existing Corporate Plan brought forward in 2016 which provided the 

financial foundations for the new strategy

Other options considered:

The development of the Corporate Strategy has drawn on feedback from the 
staff survey and a series of culture and morale workshops which were attended 
by over 200 employees. A range of views and options were therefore 
considered whilst developing the draft strategy, these included:

 Do nothing: the existing Corporate Plan was designed to run through to 
2020 and therefore remains ‘live’ for a further two years. This option was 
rejected on the basis that the new political leadership has led to a 
change in the corporate focus which is not reflected in the current plan.

 Repurpose the existing plan: this would see a development of the 
existing plan, modified to take into account the changed environment. 
This option was rejected on the basis that the opportunity to ‘reset’ the 
culture and outlook of the Council is best served by involving the staff as 
well as Members in the development of a wholly new strategy.

 Abandon the idea of a plan altogether: many corporate plans are 
written and never read, so it might be as well to do away with them 
altogether. This option was rejected on the basis that the proposed 
Corporate Strategy will be short to the point and very relevant to the 
work of SKDC; it will be a ‘user manual’ for the organisation and will play 
a central and very relevant role in our work going forward.

* * *

The Leader of the Council presented the draft Corporate Strategy (report 

Page - 69



ACEX002). He stated that the document was the response of the Council’s 
professional officers to the challenges set by the political leadership and was 
designed to capture the mood and ambition of the organisation. The new 
Corporate Strategy was intended to be a living document about how the 
organisation was going to deliver.

The recommendations in report ACEX002 were approved unanimously. 

CO152. INVEST SK

Decision:

1. The Cabinet agrees Option 4, as set out at clause 6.5 in this report 
iSK002, to establish InvestSK as a private company limited by 
guarantee, with the Council as the sole member.

2. The Council’s liability, as a sole member of the Company, will be 
limited to the amount of £1 and no share capital will apply.

3. The following be appointed as Directors of the Company: 

3.1 Councillor Matthew Lee, the Leader of the Council 
(Chairman).

3.2 Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Deputy Leader of the Council 

3.3 Aidan Rave, the Chief Executive of the Council

4. The Board determines who should be nominated to become the 
Company Secretary.

5. The Board appoints an interim Chief Executive.

6. Delegated Authority be given to Councillor Mike King, Cabinet 
Member for Economy and Development, to put in place the 
proposed Memorandum of Understanding, to determine 
membership of the Advisory Committee, agree the Articles of 
Association for InvestSK and to agree an initial award of seed 
funding to allow the incorporation process to take place.

Considerations/Reasons for decision

1. Report number iSK002 of the Leader of the Council on the formation of 
InvestSK as a company limited by guarantee

2. A current economic worth for the district of £2.7bn and aim to add a 
further £1.2bn

3. An announcement made by the Leader of a series of projects to achieve 
the first £400m of this growth through a £40m investment

4. Key benefits of InvestSK including: 
a. A business-focussed approach encouraging the private sector to 

bring forward land, property, investment and business growth

Page - 70



b. Being distinct from the local planning authority
c. Making introductions between confirmed business enquiries and 

the Council and supporting the business through formal 
procedures

d. It is already recognised as a named brand in the District
e. It is developing wider initiatives to grow economic and community 

wellbeing
5. The Companies Act 2006
6. Provision for InvestSK was included in the 2018/19 Budget
7. S1 of the Localism Act 2011 which gave local authorities a general 

power of competence
8. A letter received from the Burghley Preservation Trust and the response 

given

Other options considered:

The following options were considered for the longer-term solution for InvestSK:

Option 1: Continue, 'as is', supported by Opportunity Peterborough

This would involve a core team of officers from the Council, supported by the 
team from Opportunity Peterborough who would be contracted to the Council.

Pros: This approach is tried and tested, and the engagement with businesses 
and progress on projects has been positive.

Cons: Whilst InvestSK acts as – and is perceived by businesses as – an arms-
length company to the Council, there are certain constraints placed on 
InvestSK by virtue of it being a 'rebranded' economic development team. If 
InvestSK is to reach its full potential, this will need to be as a separate entity to 
the Council.

Whilst the current formation of InvestSK allows strong business-to-business 
performance, the credibility of InvestSK will be further-enhanced, and it will be 
able to deliver at a greater pace, by it being a separate company. This option 
has therefore been rejected.

Option 2: Continue, 'as is', but unsupported by Opportunity Peterborough

This option is similar to Option 1 above, but without the expert support and 
advice that is currently contracted through Opportunity Peterborough.

Pros: InvestSK would move towards a potentially more sustainable model, with 
its economic support being provided in-house, or even by an alternative 
provider. 

Cons: The Opportunity Peterborough team bring a wealth of knowledge and 
experience in terms of economic development and to change this whilst 
InvestSK is relatively 'young' may negatively impact on the good progress 
achieve to date. This option would also fail to capitalise on the benefits of 

Page - 71



InvestSK being a separate company (as described in option 1, above).   

This option has been rejected because it would undermine current progress 
and fail to build on the full potential of InvestSK. 

Option 3: De-brand and revert to in-house only

This option would see a reversion to a traditional form of economic 
development support, similar to what was in place before InvestSK was 
created. 

Pros: There are not considered to be any benefits to this approach.

Cons: This option would waste the momentum and credibility already 
established by InvestSK with external partners, particularly in the private and 
third sectors.

This option was rejected because it was considered to be a retrograde step, for 
the reasons set out above.

Option 4: Set-up InvestSK as a separate company

There are various types of company that can be set up. It is normal for local 
authorities to set-up companies that are wholly-owned by the Council and 
which are limited by guarantee, or by shares. Although InvestSK will initially be 
funded by the Council the intention is that, through its activities, it will gradually 
become self-sustaining. The intention is to run InvestSK as a "not for profit" 
organisation, with any income being reinvested and not being returned to the 
Council. This aim is broadly in line with establishing InvestSK as a company 
limited by guarantee. 

Pros: This option would build on the credibility of InvestSK, as a brand, within 
the business sector and provide freedoms to make decisions, at pace, in-line 
with the expectations of the business community.

Cons: There are not considered to be any dis-benefits to setting-up InvestSK 
as a separate company. 

This option is favoured because it builds on the momentum and credibility 
already established by InvestSK in its current guise.

* * *
The Leader, in presenting report iSK002 stated that his primary priority when he 
became the Leader of the Council was achieving economic growth. He added 
that part of the response to this was the launch of InvestSK in October 2017. 
Feedback on the work of InvestSK since that time had been positive and was 
seen as distinct to the traditional relationship between businesses and the 
Council. It was proposed that InvestSK should become a company limited by 
guarantee, which would provide greater flexibility and an ability to respond that 
would not be possible if it remained part of the Council. It was also seen as 
advantageous that InvestSK was seen as distinct from the Council as the local 
planning authority.

Page - 72



Reference was made to a letter that had been sent by the Burghley House 
Preservation Trust. A copy of the letter and the Leader’s response to it had 
been supplied to all Cabinet Members. The content of the letter prompted 
several Members to ask questions, seeking reassurance. The first issue that 
the Leader was asked to clarify was the function of the company; within the 
letter reference had been made to acquisitions and investments. The Leader 
stated that InvestSK had not been set up to acquire or mange land, assets or 
other such development. The Company’s operation would be controlled by the 
Memorandum of Understanding.

Cabinet Members also sought reassurance that the Council had done 
everything it needed to prior to bringing the report forward. The Leader advised 
that the Council had sought clarification and taken legal advice on the options 
for setting up InvestSK as a company and the process through which it would 
be established. Legal advice had also been taken on the letter received from 
Burghley House Preservation Trust. The Council’s legal advice considered that 
the recommended option was right for the Council and that the process was 
sound.

The letter sent on behalf of the Burghley House Preservation Trust indicated 
that they would be happy to discuss the proposals relating to InvestSK. A 
suggestion was made that it may be helpful to arrange a meeting with them, 
which would provide an opportunity to explain the real purpose of the company. 
The Leader stated that while he had recently met with representatives from the 
Trust and received positive comments about the work that was being done, he 
would be happy to continue to talk to them.

Members were given clarification that no non-executive directors would be 
appointed at this stage. Once the company had been established, 
consideration would be given to directorships and the skills and knowledge that 
were required. The aim of the membership proposed in the report was to 
establish the company in the most straightforward way possible with all 
necessary probity.

Cabinet Members were reassured by the answers given by the Leader and 
agreed the recommendations unanimously. 

CO153. MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Report number LDS281 of the Leader of the Council summarised the activity of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last report was presented to 
Cabinet on 12 April 2018.

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee gave a brief overview of a workshop of the Committee which had 
considered the Government’s ‘Integrated Communities Strategy Green Paper’. 

Page - 73



During this workshop, to which all Members of the Council had been invited, a 
response had been prepared to the consultation on the Green Paper. One idea 
arising from that workshop was the creation of a ‘chat cafe’. The Committee 
also suggested that there should be a Cabinet Member champion for 
Community Cohesion and the enhancement of the role of an existing officer of 
the Council to incorporate liaising with local and national government 
departments on community cohesion. 

The Leader stated that a Cabinet Member would be named as the champion 
for community cohesion at the annual meeting of the Council on 24 May 2018.

Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee

While there had been no meetings of the Culture and Tourism Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee since the last meeting of Cabinet, the Committee’s 
Chairman referred to the enhanced market for St. George’s Day and the street 
market in Denton. She also referred to the Council’s community engagement 
vehicle, which had been in attendance at Denton Street Market.

Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee gave a brief 
synopsis of its activities throughout the year and highlighted a number of the 
guest speakers who had attended. The final meeting of the year had been 
attended by a senior officer from Lincolnshire Police who spoke about the aims 
and challenges of policing crime in rural areas. 

Some discussion ensued amongst Members present at the Cabinet meeting 
about rural policing and the views of residents that lived in the villages that 
criminals were not being caught. Cabinet Members who represented rural 
areas stated that they disagreed with the police priority, which was victim 
support, and suggested that the priority should be detection. The Leader stated 
that the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire had been keen to 
engage with the Council. It was suggested that after the Annual Council 
meeting, the Overview and Scrutiny Chair of Chairs would decide whether they 
wished to address the village’s concerns through scrutiny or whether there 
should be an all Councillor Briefing.

Brief reference was also made to the current availability of high speed 
broadband in rural areas.

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

An update from the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee that had 
taken place on 24 April 2018, after Cabinet papers had been finalised, would 
be provided at the Cabinet meeting in June 2018. The Cabinet Member for 
Environment briefly mentioned a presentation that the Committee had received 
on the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy and the consultation that 
was taking place, encouraging anyone with an interest to submit their own 
responses.

Page - 74



CO154. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON 
KEY AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS.

Report number LDS282 informed the Cabinet of decisions that had been taken 
by individual Members since the last meeting of the Cabinet was held on 12 
April 2018.

Appendix A related to a decision on Council Tax reduction for care leavers, 
which had been made by the Cabinet Member for Finance.

CO155. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS

Report number LDS283 of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet 
Members that no non-Cabinet Members had submitted requests to speak prior 
to the publication of the agenda. Since the agenda had been published no 
requests had been received. 

CO156. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Report number LDS284 of the Leader of the Council gave an indication of the 
items that would be presented to the Cabinet during the 2018/19 municipal 
year. The report also included items that were scheduled to be considered at 
Council on 24 May 2018. The Asset Disposal Strategy needed to be added to 
the Cabinet’s Forward Plan.

CO157. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT

Councillor Ray Wootten had requested the permission of the Chairman to 
address the Cabinet. He stated that he had attended a board meeting of United 
Lincolnshire Hospitals Trust at which he had asked about extending the 
opening hours for Grantham’s accident and emergency from 6.30 to midnight. 
At that meeting he was advised that it was not safe to do so and that the 
closure was permanent. 

Councillor Wootten asked the Leader whether he would be prepared to send a 
joint letter with the Leader of Lincolnshire County Council to United Lincolnshire 
Hospitals Trust and the South West Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
on the future of Grantham hospital and the overnight closure of Grantham’s 
accident and emergency department. The Leader said that he was happy to 
sign such a letter, adding that it was critical that the county and district councils 
worked together. 

CO158. CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 15:53.

DATE DECISIONS EFFECTIVE

Page - 75



Decisions CO148(3), CO149, CO150 and CO152 as made on Thursday 10 May can 
be implemented on Monday 21 May 2018, unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of 
the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any five members of the Council 
from any political group. Decisions CO148(1) and CO148(2) and CO151 stand 
referred to full Council on 24 May 2018.

Page - 76



MINUTES
CABINET
THURSDAY, 7 JUNE 2018

THE LEADER: Councillor Matthew Lee (Chairman)
THE DEPUTY LEADER: Councillor Kelham Cooke

CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Helen Goral
Councillor Michael King
Councillor Nick Neilson
Councillor Nick Robins
Councillor Jacky Smith
Councillor Adam Stokes

NON-CABINET MEMBERS PRESENT

Councillor Mike Exton
Councillor Bob Sampson
Councillor Linda Wootten
Councillor Ray Wootten

OFFICERS

Chief Executive (Aidan Rave)
Strategic Director, Growth (Paul Thomas)
Strategic Director, Resources (Debbie Mogg)
Solicitor to the Council (Lucy Youles)
Assistant Chief Executive, Transformation & Change  (Lee Sirdifield)
Assistant Director, Commercial & Operational (Ian Yates)
Assistant Director, Housing (Harry Rai)
Assistant Director Resources (Richard Wyles)
Head of Communications (Adrian Smith)
InvestSK (Steve Bowyer)
Principal Democracy Officer (Jo Toomey)

CO1. APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Dr. Moseley.

CO2. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 10 MAY 2018

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 May 2018 were agreed as a correct 

Page - 77

Appendix B



record of the decisions taken.

CO3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (IF ANY)

No interests were disclosed.

CO4. 2017/18 QUARTER 4 PERFORMANCE MONITORING

Decision

The Cabinet noted the contents of report number PPMO07.

Considerations/Reasons for decision

1. Report number PPMO07 of the Deputy Leader of the Council giving 
performance monitoring information for the final quarter of 2017/18

2. Appendix 1 to report number PPMO07 providing a breakdown of 
performance against the Council’s performance indicators

3. All but two indicators were in the ‘green category’: percentage of 
household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting (amber) and 
the number of apprentices hosted within the organisation (red)

Other options considered 

Members could refer elements of the information given in a performance report 
to the relevant overview and scrutiny committee for further consideration.

* * *

The Deputy Leader introduced report number PPMO07. He explained that the 
report showed how the Council was performing against the outputs and 
outcomes in the Corporate Plan. Members were also reminded that the Council 
had adopted a new Corporate Strategy at its meeting on 24 May 2018, which 
would be supported by the introduction of a new performance management 
methodology.

Reference was made to the red category indicator with an explanation that the 
number of apprentices within the organisation had fallen below the target 
because two of the apprentice cohort had taken up permanent positions with 
the authority. He added that work was underway to increase the number of 
apprenticeships, including the introduction of apprenticeship positions that 
operated across the whole Council. Discussions were also planned to explore 
the introduction of supported internships, which were raised at the Council 
meeting on 24 May 2018.

Cabinet Members also referred to the Council’s performance in respect of the 
percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting. It 
was noted that the Cabinet Member for Environment was spear-heading work 
to improve performance against this indicator across the county. 

Page - 78



Other aspects of performance that were highlighted included a 24% reduction 
in fly-tipping since the introduction of the Big Clean and an improvement in 
business occupancy rates.

It was hoped that the new methodology would provide a real-time indication of 
performance against targets, allowing timely intervention if performance started 
to deteriorate. It was also considered as important because of the aspiration to 
reward staff based on their performance. Members noted that there was also 
an aim to ensure accurate timely reporting of financial information. 

Cabinet Members noted the report.

CO5. MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET BY THE COUNCIL OR OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

Report number LDS290 of the Leader of the Council summarised the activity of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committees since the last report was presented to 
Cabinet on 10 May 2018.

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee stated that since the last meeting of the Cabinet, a working group of 
the Committee had met to prepare a response to the Government’s ‘Integrated 
Communities Strategy Green Paper’. 

He added that the Chief Officer of the South West Lincolnshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group had been invited to attend a meeting of the Committee 
however this meeting had been delayed until further information was available 
on the Sustainability and Transformation Plan for Lincolnshire.

Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny advised the 
Cabinet that the Committee’s next meeting would take place on 10 July 2018. 
She also referred to a recent visit she had made to Grantham Canal. The 
Leader and Deputy Leader commented on the work of the Grantham Canal 
Partnership and the importance of canals to the leisure economy and heritage.

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee informed 
Cabinet Members that a working group had been arranged to talk about the 
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy, which was currently subject to 
consultation. He added that at its next meeting, Cabinet would be presented 
with a report of the Committee on the introduction of a new street lighting 
policy.

Growth Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page - 79



Cabinet Members were reminded of a meeting of the Growth Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, which had taken place on 29 May 2018 to consider a call-
in of the Cabinet decision made on 10 May 2018 regarding InvestSK. Members 
were advised that the Committee had not supported the call-in request.

Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Chairman had nothing to report.

CO6. ITEMS RAISED BY CABINET MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS ON KEY 
AND NON KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS.

Report number LDS291 of the Leader of the Council informed the Cabinet that 
no individual Cabinet Member had made any decisions between the date the 
last report was made to Cabinet on 10 May 2018 and the date on which the 
agenda for this meeting was issued.

CO7. REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED FROM NON CABINET MEMBERS

Report number LDS292 of the Leader of the Council informed Cabinet 
Members that no non-Cabinet Members had submitted requests to speak prior 
to the publication of the agenda. 

CO8. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

Report number LDS293 of the Leader of the Council gave an indication of the 
items that would be presented to the Cabinet during the 2018/19 municipal 
year. The report also included items that were scheduled to be considered at 
Council meetings during the municipal year.

Members were advised that the item on the General Data Protection 
Regulations needed to be updated to reflect a new decision date of 6 
September. The date at which it would need to be considered by relevant 
overview and scrutiny committees would also need updating.

CO9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN, BY REASON OF 
SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCES, DECIDES IS URGENT

The Chairman granted Councillor Ray Wootten the opportunity to speak.

Councillor Wootten referred to a letter from the Chief Officer of the South West 
Lincolnshire Clinical Commissioning Group and a recent board meeting at 
which a comment was made about removing the minor injuries unit at 
Grantham Hospital. He explained that the unit was currently open between 
6.30pm and 11:30pm at a cost of £130,000. In the past year he stated that the 
unit had been used by 65 patients, which the board did not consider offered 
value for money. Councillor Wootten stated that the only way to access the 
service was by dialling 111 to get permission to attend. He referred to a general 
feeling that the service was not well-used because people were not aware that 
it was available. Consequently, he was trying to increase awareness of the 

Page - 80



service to improve take-up and encourage participation in the consultation that 
was underway to determine the future of the unit.

Cabinet members made comments about the lack of credibility with which 
United Lincolnshire Hospitals Trust was perceived by residents in Grantham 
and the Council. Members urged the Trust to come to the area and to be more 
open about what it was planning.

The Leader concluded the meeting by welcoming the members of the Council’s 
new Senior Management Team.

CO10.CLOSE OF MEETING

The meeting was closed at 14:25.

Page - 81


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 24 May 2018
	5 Communications (including Chairman's Announcements)
	6 Members of the Cabinet and the Leader's Scheme of Delegation
	7a St. Peter's Hill Re-development - Public Realm
	CFM464Budget Public Realm
	CFM464Reserves

	7b Grounds maintenance
	CFM463Budget GM
	CFM463Reserves

	8 Temporary appointment of parish councillors
	9 Recommendations from the Constitution Committee
	Minutes , 04/06/2018 Constitution Committee

	10 Change of name of the Culture and Tourism Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	11 Appointment of Section 151 and Chief Finance Officer
	12 Meetings of the Cabinet
	Minutes , 10/05/2018 Cabinet
	Minutes , 07/06/2018 Cabinet


